## **MASTER AGREEMENT**

between the

## **KALKASKA PUBLIC SCHOOLS**

and the

# NORTHERN MICHIGAN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION MEA/NEA

(Representing the Kalkaska Education Association)

September 1, 2024 to August 31, 2027



## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE I: BASIC CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS	
SECTION 1.1: AGREEMENT	1
SECTION 1.2: RECOGNITION	1
SECTION 1.3: WITNESSETH	1
SECTION 1.4: EXTENT OF AGREEMENT	2
SECTION 1.5: DURATION OF AGREEMENT	3
SECTION 1.6: ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	3
SECTION 1.7: RIGHTS OF THE BOARD	4
SECTION 1.8: TEACHER RIGHTS	5
SECTION 1.9: CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS	6
SECTION 1.10: PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	6
SECTION 1.11: SCHOOL CALENDAR	7
SECTION 1.12: NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE	8
SECTION 1.13: DEFINITION OF SENIORITY	8
ARTICLE II: EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS	9
SECTION 2.1: VACANCIES, PROMOTIONS, AND TRANSFERS	9
SECTION 2.2: RESIGNATIONS	10
SECTION 2.3: SUBJECT AREA DEPARTMENT AND GRADE LEVEL CHAIRPERSONS	11
SECTION 2.4: TEACHER QUALIFICATIONS	11
SECTION 2.5: MENTOR TEACHER	11
SECTION 2.6: SUPERVISING TEACHER	12
SECTION 2.7: PERSONNEL FILES AND RECORDS	13
SECTION 2.8: CLASSROOM PARAPROFESSIONALS	14
SECTION 2.9: JOB SHARING	14
SECTION 2.10: COMMITMENT TO IN-SERVICE EDUCATION AND CONFERENCES	15
SECTION 2.11: DIRECTOR OF ATHLETICS	16

ARTICLE III: TEACHING CONDITIONS	17
SECTION 3.1: ACADEMIC FREEDOM	17
SECTION 3.2: TEACHER PROTECTION	17
SECTION 3.3: INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS	17
SECTION 3.4: SCHOOL EQUIPMENT	18
SECTION 3.5: TEACHING FACILITIES	18
SECTION 3.6: TEACHING HOURS	19
SECTION 3.7: CLASS SIZE	21
SECTION 3.8: ACADEMIC REPORTS	22
ARTICLE IV: LEAVES OF ABSENCE	23
SECTION 4.1: PROFESSIONAL, PERSONAL, UNPAID, AND ASSOCIATION LEAVE	23
SECTION 4.2: SABBATICAL LEAVE	25
SECTION 4.3: ILLNESS AND DISABILITY	27
SECTION 4.4: FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVES	29
ARTICLE V: COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS	30
SECTION 5.1: INSURANCE AND BENEFITS	30
SECTION 5.2: PROFESSIONAL SALARY	32
SECTION 5.3: PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION	34
SECTION 5.4: RETIREMENT BENEFIT	37
SECTION 5.5: EXTRA CURRICULAR COMPENSATION	40
ARTICLE VI: OTHER	44
SECTION 6.1: SPECIAL EDUCATION	44
SECTION 6.2: DISTRICT-SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT COMMITTEE	46
SECTION 6.3: SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT COMMITTEE	47
SECTION 6.4: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	49

APPENDICES	53
APPENDIX A: DURATION OF AGREEMENT SIGNATURES	53
APPENDIX B: GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM	54
APPENDIX C: EXTRA CURRICULAR CONTRACT	56
APPENDIX D: APPLICATION FOR EXTENDED SICK LEAVE	57
APPENDIX E: CALENDARS	58

## **ARTICLE I: BASIC CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS**

## **SECTION 1.1: AGREEMENT**

This Agreement is made and entered into this 1<sup>st</sup> day of September, 2024 by and between the Board of Education of the Kalkaska Public Schools (hereinafter referred to as the Board), and the Northern Michigan Education Association, MEA/NEA (hereinafter referred to as the Association), representing Kalkaska Education Association Employees.

## **SECTION 1.2: RECOGNITION**

- 1. The Board hereby recognizes the Northern Michigan Education Association, MEA/NEA as the exclusive bargaining representative, pursuant to and in accordance with all applicable provisions of the Public Employment Relations Act 336 of the Public Acts of 1947, as amended, and as defined in Section 11 of Act 379, Public Acts of 1965, for all certified teaching personnel and temporarily emergency certified teaching personnel utilized under Board Policy 3120, as revised August 19, 2019, excluding non-contractual substitute teachers, the superintendent, administrative assistant, principals, and those to be employed in the superintendent's office.
- 2. Unless otherwise indicated, the term "teachers" as used herein shall refer to all employees in the unit for bargaining as defined above.

## **SECTION 1.3: WITNESSETH**

**WHEREAS**, the laws of the State of Michigan permit public employees and public employers to enter into collective bargaining agreements concerning wages, hours, and other conditions of employment, and

**WHEREAS**, certain understandings have been reached which the Board and the Association desire to incorporate into a written collective bargaining agreement,

**NOW THEREFORE**, in consideration of the following mutual covenants, it is hereby agreed as follows:

## **SECTION 1.4: EXTENT OF AGREEMENT**

- 1. This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete commitments between both parties and may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from, or modified only through the voluntary, mutual consent of the parties in written and signed amendment to this Agreement.
- 2. If any provisions of this Agreement, or any application of the Agreement to any teacher or group of teachers, should be found contrary to law by a court of last resort of competent jurisdiction from whose final judgment or decree no appeal has been taken within the time provided for doing so, or to any rule or regulation of the State Department of Education from which rule or regulation has been taken within the time provided for doing so, then said provision or application shall be deemed invalid, except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions hereof shall continue in full force and effect. The Association and the Board will meet to bring this Agreement into compliance with the new ruling or regulation.
- 3. The parties acknowledge that during negotiations which resulted in the Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and the understanding and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Board and the Association, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly, waive the right, and each agree that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with regard to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both parties at the time that they negotiated or signed this Agreement.
- 4. No employee will be discriminated against so as to limit, segregate, or classify said person in any way that tends to deprive any individual of employment opportunities or adversely affect their employment status (firing, compensation, terms, conditions) because of their race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identification, national origin, marital status, or membership (or non-membership) in, or participation in (or refraining from participation in) the activities of the Association.
- 5. An emergency manager appointed under the Local Financial Stability and Choice Act is authorized to reject, modify, or terminate this agreement as provided in the Local Financial Stability and Choice Act, 2012 Public Act 436. The parties have included this language due to the requirement of section 15(7) of the Public Employment Relations Act.

## **SECTION 1.5: DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

- 1. This Agreement shall be effective as of September 1, 2024, and shall continue in effect until August 31, 2027. The parties will begin negotiations for a successor agreement no later than February 2027.
- 2. The parties further agree that prior to the contract expiration date; either party may, upon written notice, open negotiations on the successor agreement.
- 3. If, pursuant to such negotiations, an agreement on the renewal or modification is not reached prior to the expiration date, this Agreement shall expire at such expiration date unless it is extended for a specific period or periods by mutual written agreement of the parties.

## **SECTION 1.6: ASSOCIATION RIGHTS**

- 1. The Association shall have the right to use school facilities and equipment in accordance with existing Board Policy.
- 2. State and National Association officials who are not employees of the local school district shall not be permitted to visit school premises during regularly scheduled school hours, except upon invitation or notification of administration.
- 3. Association business shall not be conducted during the regular class hours.
- 4. The Association shall be provided adequate bulletin board space in a place readily accessible to teachers in each school building for the posting of notices and other materials relating to Association activities. All materials posted shall relate to official business of the Association.
- 5. The Board shall cause to be sent to the Association President a copy of the agenda, minutes and material relating to the minutes for each of its meetings, at the same time said copies are sent to the Board members.

## **SECTION 1.7: RIGHTS OF THE BOARD**

- 1. The Board, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the District, hereby retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties, and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it (or not withheld from it) by the Laws and Constitution of the State of Michigan, and of the United States, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the right:
  - a. To the executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties and facilities.
  - b. To hire all employees and subject to the provision of law, to determine their qualifications.
  - c. To establish grades and courses of instruction, including special programs, provide for athletic, recreational and social events for the students, all as deemed necessary or advisable.
  - d. To decide upon the means and methods of instruction, and selection of textbooks and other teaching materials, and the use of the teaching aids of every kind and nature.
  - e. To determine class schedules, the hours of instruction and the duties, responsibilities, and assignments of teachers and other employees with respect thereto, and with respect to the administrative and non-teaching activities, and the terms and conditions of employment.
- 2. The Exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities of the Board, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of the agreement and then only to the extent such specific and express terms hereof are in conformance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Michigan and the Constitution and laws of the United States.
- 3. The Board may, at its discretion, require any teacher to submit to a physical and/or psychological or psychiatric examination where there is reason to believe either that the teacher is not capable of performing essential job functions or that the teacher may pose a threat to the safety of others in the workplace. Such required examination shall be paid for by the Board. A written recommendation shall be made available to the Board.

## **SECTION 1.8: TEACHER RIGHTS**

- 1. All teacher contracts shall be in writing, and signed by officers of the Board, or an authorized agent of the Board.
- 2. Contracts shall be issued simultaneously to all teachers within five (5) working days of the beginning of school. Information in teachers' contracts shall include:
  - a. Name
  - b. Federal And State Exemptions Claimed By Employee
  - c. Hire Date
  - d. Contract(S) Amounts
  - e. Daily Pay Rate
  - f. Hourly Pay Rate
  - g. Number of Pays
- 3. Contracts shall be returned within ten (10) days following issue.
- 4. In case of a grievance over the content of the individual contract issued, contracts may be held by the teachers until the grievance is settled.
- 5. Both parties recognize that teachers may engage in protected Association activities which will not be considered in any rating.
- 6. The lead building administrator shall provide to each teacher in writing their prospective course responsibilities to be taught for the next academic year no later than May 30, including notification to any teacher whose services will not be retained, or potentially not retained.

- 7. No non-probationary bargaining unit member shall be disciplined without just cause. The term "discipline" as used in this Agreement includes written warnings, written reprimands, suspensions without pay, or discharge. Any disciplinary action that is within the jurisdiction of the State Tenure Commission must be appealed through the tenure process.
  - a. Tenured teachers may appeal a suspension of one (1) to ten (10) unpaid days to Level Two of the grievance procedure.
  - b. Tenured teachers may appeal a suspension of more than ten (10) unpaid days to Level Three of the grievance procedure, provided the parties have participated in mediation thirty (30) days before any arbitration proceedings.
  - c. The specific grounds for disciplinary action will be presented in writing to the bargaining unit member and the Association.
- 8. Discipline, discharge, and nonrenewal for probationary teachers will follow state law and is not subject to the grievance procedure.
- 9. If a complaint against a bargaining unit member results in documented discipline, the bargaining unit member may be made aware of the complainant unless prohibited under the law or regulation.
- 10. Discipline must be proportionate to the seriousness of the offense and will include the following actions:
  - a. Written warning,
  - b. Written reprimand,
  - c. Suspension without pay, and
  - d. Discharge
  - e. The District may skip disciplinary action progression based on the seriousness of the offense.

## **SECTION 1.9: CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS**

- 1. Both parties recognize the desirability of continuous and uninterrupted operation of the instructional program during the normal school year, and the avoidance of disputes which threaten to interfere with such operations is in the best interest of both parties. Since the parties are establishing a comprehensive grievance procedure under which unresolved disputes may be settled by an impartial arbitrator, the parties have removed the basic cause of work interruptions during the period of this Agreement.
- 2. In any situation when in the opinion of the superintendent of schools, or his/her delegated representative, it is necessary to close school, teachers shall be excused from reporting to duty without loss of pay. Similarly, if all schools are closed by the superintendent after classes have commenced, teachers shall be permitted to leave if they so desire, without penalty. However, in the event a school (or schools) is/are closed because of a heating plant failure or other similar emergency, teachers shall be subject to assignment as determined by the superintendent.
- 3. When schools are open and teachers are unable to report to work because of conditions not within the control of school authorities, such as severe storms, fires, epidemics, or hazardous health conditions as defined by county, state, or federal authorities, or their health and safety are threatened by attempting to report, teachers shall notify their supervising principal of their inability to report to work and condition causing the inability to report, and may be required to work remotely, or utilize sick leave or personal leave time, as determined by the supervising principal.
- 4. Teachers shall attend all scheduled professional development days, in person, unless otherwise offered to all staff.

## **SECTION 1.10: PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS**

- 1. The Association agrees to indemnify and hold the Board, including each individual school board member and/or its agents, harmless against any and all claims, demands, costs, suits, damages, awards, judgments or other forms of liability, including but not limited to back pay damages and all court or administrative costs that may arise out of or by reason of any action taken by the Board or its agents for the purpose of complying with the terms of this article. It is specifically and expressly agreed that any payment of any demand arising hereunder shall be made directly from the Association to the demanding party and at no time shall the Board be obligated to pay out any monies for any reason associated with the provisions of this article.
- 2. Upon written authorization from the teacher, the Board agrees to make voluntary deductions from the salaries of teachers for mutually agreeable purposes, which shall include but not limited to:
  - a. Financial Institutions: Upon written authorization by the teacher, the Board shall deduct and forward to the financial institution designated by the teacher the amounts authorized.
  - b. Tax sheltered annuities: Upon written authorization by the teacher, the Board shall deduct and forward to the specified annuity plan the amount authorized. No more than ten (10) different companies, including MEA Financial Services, shall be designated for such deductions among the teaching staff. The teacher may designate one company for deduction provided there is a minimum of five (5) teachers participating in deductions for that company. Companies, for which deductions are being made as of July 1, 2003, shall be continued for deduction purposes as part of the ten (10) company limit, until there are no longer any teachers participating in the plan.

## **SECTION 1.11: SCHOOL CALENDAR**

- The school calendar shall consist of 183 work days (180 instructional days; one classroom preparation
  day prior to students reporting for instruction, one professional development day, and one day (7
  hours) of community/district engagement time OR attendance at the Regional Staff Development Day
  (RSDD). The last two days of each semester shall be the Exam/Record Days with students attending
  only one-half day.
  - a. With the exception of starting date, the school calendar shall be developed in collaboration with, and mutually agreed to by the Association. (See Appendix E)
  - b. "Snow day" make up days will be added to the end of the current calendar as needed to insure state-mandated days of student instruction.
  - c. Any reference to the term "Snow Days" in this Agreement shall mean days when student instruction is not provided because of conditions not within the control of school authorities, such as severe storms, fires, epidemics, or health conditions as defined by the county health authorities.
  - d. If the State Department of Education requires the Kalkaska Public Schools to meet any minimal requirements of student instruction days and/or clock hours in order to avoid monetary penalties, the Association agrees to meet all such requirements. Teachers required to work in excess of 183 days shall be compensated an additional 1/183 of his/her salary for each day in excess of 183.
  - e. Community/District Engagement Time- Seven (7) hours: These hours are for staff to work at varying events hosted by the District that involve engagement with the community.
    - i. Some examples include but are not limited to:
      - 1. Music Concerts (seating spectators, passing out programs, helping with students, etc.)
      - 2. Athletic Events (taking tickets, scoreboard, game managing, managing spectators, etc.)
      - 3. Drama/Talent Shows: (seating spectators, judging, tickets, backstage help, lighting, etc.)
      - 4. Blazer Bash: (setting up/tearing down, managing tables/booths, greeting families and students, etc.)

- ii. Staff will be able to sign up for events on the District Community Engagement Workers Spreadsheet. This list will be available on the first work day of the year and more events will be added as the year progresses.
- iii. Each staff member will track their own hours and have them signed off on by the person in charge of the event. They will then turn their completed sheet into their building administrator when it is finished, or by the last day of school.
- iv. Additional hours cannot be required by Administration, even for extra duty pay.
- v. The documentation of these hours are due by the last contractual day.
- 2. Teachers' services for the school year are fulfilled upon the completion of contract days, when all records are completed and filed in the office of their respective principal.

## **SECTION 1.12: NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE**

- 1. Negotiations will not be conducted during regular school hours unless mutually agreed upon by the representatives.
- 2. The parties agree that fact finding and mediation sessions shall be scheduled outside of school hours whenever possible.

## **SECTION 1.13: DEFINITION OF SENIORITY**

- 1. Seniority is the length of service within the District as of the first working day of the employee's most recent hire as a member of the bargaining unit.
- 2. Teachers shall lose seniority rights if they retire, resign, are discharged, or fail to return from an approved leave of absence within three (3) days of the scheduled date without a valid excuse.
- 3. An updated seniority list shall be submitted to the Association no later than the end of the first marking period of each year based on the definition of seniority. Upon request, the Association shall receive a list of bargaining unit members showing each member's position on the salary grid, endorsements, certificates, building and teaching assignments and degrees held (as on file with the Employer). Objections to the seniority list must be filed within thirty (30) days of posting. Thereafter, the list shall be final and conclusive until the objection period following submission of the next annual seniority list.
- 4. When there is a tie as to seniority date, teachers shall be placed on the seniority list by ranking high to low according to the last four digits of the teachers' social security numbers.

## **ARTICLE II: EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS**

### **SECTION 2.1: TEACHER PLACEMENT**

- The superintendent shall be responsible for the proper assignment and transfer of all professional staff
  members and shall attempt to affect the optimum assignment of the professional staff in conformance
  with any applicable contractual or legal requirements, state certification requirements, and federal
  requirements.
- 2. Any teacher who shall be transferred to an administrative position with the Employer and shall later return to a teacher's status shall be entitled to retain all seniority as he/she may have had under this Agreement prior to such transfer to supervisory or executive status. If at any time said employee should return to an Association position, he/she shall retain his/her bargaining unit salary schedule credit and seniority at the level he/she would have had if he/she had not left the Association for a supervisory role within the district. The administrator shall retain his/her bargaining unit salary schedule credit at the level he/she would have had if he/she had not left the bargaining unit.
- 3. A vacancy is defined as a bargaining unit position previously held by a bargaining unit member or a newly created bargaining unit position that the District intends to fill.
  - a. Whenever a bargaining unit vacancy arises, the Superintendent shall promptly post notice for internal and external candidates concurrently for five (5) working days. After 5 days, all qualified internal teachers who have applied shall be given an interview.
    - Internal and external candidates for vacancies shall be processed in accordance with Board policy. An internal candidate is defined as someone who is currently covered and working under the Collective Bargaining Agreement. An external candidate is defined as someone who is not currently covered and working under the Collective Bargaining Agreement.
  - b. Internal candidates' applications shall be submitted to the supervising principal of the building in which the open position exists. External candidates' applications shall be submitted to the superintendent.
  - c. Both internal and external candidates will be interviewed simultaneously following the fiveday application window.
  - d. Interview teams will be made up of appropriate membership, including grade-level/subjectarea chairs, the building principal, other grade-level or subject-area teachers, and any other relevant staff member.

- e. Interview teams, through the building administrator, will make a recommendation to the superintendent who shall have the final decision on recommendations.
- f. The superintendent will make a recommendation to the Board.
- g. Because the Employer recognizes and encourages members of the bargaining unit to seek promotions in the district, the Employer may interview internal bargaining unit candidates who apply for and meet all qualifications for supervisory positions as listed in the postings.

#### 4. Transfers-

Involuntary transfers shall not be made except for valid administrative reasons. Involuntary transfers shall be for a reason that is not arbitrary or capricious.

The superintendent, or his/her designated representative, shall consider the bargaining unit employee's preference requested, but may deny transfer if, in his/her opinion, it is in the best interest of the students, teacher, and district.

Transfer to vacant positions in the bargaining unit shall be filled on the basis of:

- a. Related experience,
- b. Competency,
- c. Qualifications of the applicant,
- d. Training/professional development,
- e. Evaluation ratings,
- f. Length of service.

- 5. Reductions in Personnel, Seniority, and Recall
  - a. Once individual contracts are signed by the staff in the fall of the school year, no layoffs will take place for the rest of the school year unless the Superintendent or the Board determine that a layoff is necessary to maintain effective District operations.
  - b. In the event a reduction of staff is necessary, the following shall be applied:
    - Prior to initiating any layoffs, the District shall send an email to all teaching staff, soliciting "volunteer" layoffs from anyone in areas which are affected by program cuts.
    - ii. Layoffs will be made in accordance with the law unless the following section is deemed acceptable due to future changes in the law.
    - iii. Whenever possible, normal attrition shall be used. That is, teachers who resign shall not be replaced, or the position shall be filled from within the District, first by those persons laid off or slated for layoff who are certified and qualified, and then from others within the District if there are qualified teachers available in the District.
      - Should a position be eliminated, the District shall place the bargaining unit member whose position was eliminated into the next available position for which the bargaining unit member is qualified and certified. The District will not be required to restructure teaching positions.
    - iv. When a bargaining unit member is laid off or displaced, they will be offered the next available position for which they are qualified and certified for one (1) year from the date of layoff. At the expiration of one year, the right to the next position is no longer guaranteed.
    - v. The criteria used to identify those teachers who will be laid off shall be:
      - 1. Teacher effectiveness as measured by the teacher's three (3) previous evaluations.
      - 2. Teacher training or participation in professional development.
      - 3. Certification and qualification. [Qualification shall be defined as meeting the requirements of the appropriate accreditation agency (i.e. the State of Michigan).]
      - 4. Discipline, if any.
      - 5. Concerning attendance not related to extenuating circumstances.

- 6. Teaching experience in the grade-level or subject-area:
  - A. K-8
  - B. 7-12
- 7. Any other reason that is not arbitrary or capricious.
- 8. Length of service.
- c. Persons affected by elimination of positions shall be notified in person or by email, and shall be given five (5) working days from receipt of notification to indicate their desire to exercise their rights to any other position. Such indications shall be made in writing, which may be an email.
- d. Teachers who are laid off shall be called back using the factors outlined in Section 2.1.5(a)v. to fill a vacant position. When a teacher is notified of a vacant position via email, he/she shall have five (5) working days from the receipt of notification to indicate his/her desire to accept the position. Failure to accept a vacancy within five (5) days of notification shall result in loss of all seniority rights.

## **SECTION 2.2: RESIGNATIONS**

1. To avoid the possibility of losing his/her tenure, a teacher shall discontinue his/her service with the Board of Education only by mutual consent after July 1st. Written notice shall be given to the Board of Education at least sixty (60) days before the start of the ensuing school year. This resignation shall be acted upon at the regular meeting of the Board of Education.

## **SECTION 2.3: TEACHER EVALUATION**

The Board of Education, through the powers derived from the School Code and other relevant statutes, is responsible for the employment and discharge of all personnel. To carry out this responsibility, with involvement of professional staff, the Board delegates to the Superintendent the function of establishing and implementing a performance evaluation system that aligns with current evaluation laws.

- 1. The formal year-end evaluation reports of teachers shall be the responsibility of the administration. Teachers shall be evaluated by a qualified principal, assistant principal, or an administrator who is their immediate supervisor, unless an exception is agreed upon by the administration and Association.
- 2. Teachers will receive performance goals through an Individualized Development Plan (IDP). Teachers with questions or who request training regarding the growth plan, evaluation tool, and timelines, may schedule a meeting with the evaluator. The evaluation and growth plan tools shall be posted to the District's online evaluation platform.
  - a. As provided for in Section 1526 of the School Code of 1976, the IDP for probationary teachers shall include participation in a minimum of fifteen (15) days of in-service and/or other similar type of training programs (including programs offered by university-linked professional development schools and/or regional seminars). The District shall pay all costs incurred, and provide release of time without loss of pay to the teacher to attend the training.
  - b. For probationary teachers rated 'Developing' (formerly 'Minimally Effective') or 'Needing Support' (formerly 'Ineffective'), the administration shall meet with the teacher and their mentor teacher, or a representative of the Association to review the teacher's IDP. The IDP shall set forth with specificity the goals to be met by the teacher during the school year, and the actions to be taken by the teacher in reaching those goals. The goals and actions to be followed by the teacher must be consistent with the criteria for evaluation tools. The goals and actions required shall be finalized in written form and signed by the administrator and the teacher.
- 3. The written year-end evaluation report shall contain areas of performance where concerns are shown or improvement required, with a timeline established and specific recommendations for improvement provided. Goals accomplished and new goals established shall be designated. The evaluation will conclude with a rating of job performance using categories of 'Effective', 'Developing', or 'Needing Support'.
- 4. Beginning in the 2024-25 school year, twenty percent (20%) of the year-end evaluation must be based on student growth and assessment data, or student learning objective (SLO) metrics. The district will use data from a local building-wide assessment that can produce an aggregate score or the teacher's individual data from the same assessment, if higher, to determine the 20%.

- 5. The parties agree that the teacher evaluation procedure shall provide for informal opportunities for the evaluator to document the teaching performance, in addition to the scheduled formal classroom observation(s). Within ten (10) school days of an informal observation, the teacher and administrator shall schedule a meeting to discuss the observation. If an attempt has been made to schedule the meeting, but unforeseen circumstances intervene, the meeting time should be rescheduled within a reasonable time outside the 10 days. If the teacher is both tenured and 'Effective', and both parties agree that a meeting is not necessary, this meeting can be waived. Following formal observations, informal observations, or walkthroughs, teachers must schedule a meeting with the evaluator to discuss these observations.
- 6. Any observation report used toward a teacher's mid-year or final evaluation shall contain positive comments, constructive criticism and/or suggestions for improvement or growth. It shall include a review of the lesson plan, state curriculum standards being taught, and student engagement in the lesson. If an administrator believes a teacher is deficient, or there is an unsatisfactory performance of assigned duties, the reasons therefore shall be set forth in specific terms as shall the specific ways in which the teacher is to improve. The observation report may include the assistance to be given by the administrator and other staff members.
- 7. Following the meeting scheduled to debrief an observation, the Administrator shall prepare a written summary of the observation.
- 8. All tenure teachers rated 'Effective' (or higher) for three (3) consecutive evaluations shall be evaluated at least every three (3) years.
- 9. All tenure teachers rated 'Effective' (or higher) for three (3) consecutive evaluations shall be evaluated on the classroom teaching process by using at least fifteen (15) minutes of classroom observation.
- 10. The parties agree that it is the duty of the Administration to evaluate probationary teachers, and teachers rated 'Developing' (formerly 'Minimally Effective') or 'Needing Support' (formerly 'Ineffective') under a procedure which will provide them a statement of goals for each year, identify areas of concern, and provide appropriate and specific techniques and/or resources for the improvement of performance.
- 11. Probationary teachers and teachers rated 'Developing' (formerly 'Minimally Effective') or 'Needing Support' (formerly 'Ineffective') shall receive a written mid-year evaluation, and a written year-end evaluation aligned with the school calendar.
- 12. Each evaluation of probationary teachers rated 'Developing' (formerly 'Minimally Effective') or 'Needing Support' (formerly 'Ineffective') shall be preceded by a minimum of two (2) classroom observations. Each semester, there will be a minimum of one (1) formal and one (1) informal, or walkthrough observation. The formal observation shall be scheduled at a mutually agreed upon time, and be a minimum of thirty (30) minutes.

- 13. The administrator shall hold a conference with each teacher prior to the submission of the written evaluation to the Superintendent. The teacher is to receive a copy of the evaluation prior to the submission to the Superintendent, which is to occur prior to the end of the teacher work year. A teacher who disagrees with an evaluation or recommendation may submit a written response which shall be attached to the file copy of the evaluation or recommendation in question.
- 14. Both parties recognize that teachers may engage in legitimate Association activities, which shall not be considered in any evaluation.
- 15. The district's determinations regarding the achievement of specific goals of the IDP shall be subject to the grievance procedure up to and including arbitration.
- 16. The parties acknowledge and agree that this provision is consistent with the rights provided probationary teachers under the Tenure Act, and is drafted in conformity thereto. The rights and remedies provided by this Article are in addition, and supplemental to the rights and remedies provided by the Act.

## **SECTION 2.4: TEACHER QUALIFICATIONS**

- 1. Once hired, it is the responsibility of the teacher to see that he/she continues to be properly certified and meets all qualifications of his/her position. The state code governing certification shall govern. It is the responsibility of the teacher to provide the Board with an original of his/her certificate properly executed including all valid endorsements. Determinations of certification and qualifications shall be based upon the documentation on file with the Board at the time the decision is made.
  - a. Prior to June 1 of each school year, the Employer will post a list of, and notify employees whose credentials must be renewed or are otherwise expiring within the next year. The list shall be provided to the Association president or his/her designee.

## SECTION 2.5: SUBJECT AREA DEPARTMENT AND GRADE LEVEL CHAIRPERSONS

- 1. The Subject Area (Math, ELA, Science, Social Studies) Department Chairperson (Middle School and High School) or Grade Level Chairperson (K-5 District-wide) performs a wide variety of instructional support services to facilitate the efficient use of professional development and professional learning community time. There shall also be Subject Area Department Chairpersons for: Special Education (District- wide for K-5, one for the Middle School and one for the High School); Title programs (District-wide K-5); and for Specials (District-wide for K-5, one for the Middle School, one for the High School).
- 2. The Subject Area Department Chairperson or Grade Level Chair shall facilitate the coordination of programs and materials and shall serve as instructional liaison between teachers of the department/grade level and the school administration.
- 3. Subject Area Department Chairs and Grade Level Chairs will be appointed by the administration, from among those making application, and shall not be called a supervisory employee or make administrative decisions.
- 4. Subject Area Department Chairpersons and Grade Level Chairs shall be compensated with an annual stipend of \$750 in recognition of time spent engaged in that role beyond normal work hours.

## **SECTION 2.6: MENTOR TEACHER**

- 1. Pursuant to Section 1526 of the Revised School Code, each teacher, for their first three years of teaching, shall be appointed a mentor by the Administration with the approval of the Association and participate in the Kalkaska Teacher Induction Program their first year with KPS.
  - a. Any Effective teacher that is interested in being a mentor shall submit their names, via email, to the building principal and the union president by August 31st, prior to the start of the school year.
  - b. All efforts will be made to place one mentee with one mentor.
  - c. Mentor/mentee placements do not have to be among common grade levels or departments.
  - d. The Mentor Teacher selected shall consent to the appointment and continue for the threeyear period. Either the teacher or the administrator may request a new mentor be selected at the conclusion of each school year.

- e. The Mentor Teacher shall assist the probationary teacher during the term of the appointment. The Mentor Teacher's role shall be formative, and he/she will not function in a supervisory capacity with regard to the Mentee.
- 2. As provided for in Section 1526 of the Revised School Code, the IDP shall include participation in a minimum of fifteen (15) days of in service and/or other similar type training programs (Kalkaska Teacher Induction Program, including programs offered by university-linked professional development schools and/or regional seminars). The district shall pay all costs incurred and provide release time without loss of pay to the teacher to attend the training.
- 3. Each newly hired teacher with three (3) years or more of prior teaching experience, newly teaching for Kalkaska Public Schools will be appointed a "half-time" mentor teacher their first year at Kalkaska Public Schools and participate in the Kalkaska Teacher Induction Program their first year with KPS.
- 4. The expertise a Mentor Teacher provides is valuable and shall be paid a stipend of \$750.00 for 25 hours of mentoring work.

## **SECTION 2.7: SUPERVISING TEACHER**

1. Acceptance of the assignment of a student teacher by a supervising teacher shall be voluntary. No more than one (1) student teacher shall be assigned to any one (1) supervising teacher at any one time within the same school year (unless the assigned teacher agrees to participate.) Supervising teachers shall be tenured teachers and shall work directly with the local program coordinator to provide opportunities for the student teachers to observe, practice, and develop the arts and skills of the profession. No supervising teacher shall be assigned to an extern teacher in consecutive semesters unless the college program is longer than one semester.

## **SECTION 2.8: PERSONNEL FILES AND RECORDS**

1. Pursuant to the guidelines of the "Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to Know Act," each teacher shall have the right, upon request, to review the contents of the personnel file maintained by the Employer in his/her name (hereinafter referred to as "personnel file"). The teacher may have an Association representative present at the review in the presence of the Superintendent or his/her designated representative.

Confidential materials placed in the personnel file prior to the bargaining unit employee's employment, normally sought prior to the time of employment, are specifically exempted from review.

- 2. The bargaining unit employee shall be informed of any item placed in or removed from the personnel file prior to said action taking place. This requirement shall not apply to:
  - a. Annuity elections
  - b. Insurance enrollment forms
  - c. Direct deposit authorizations
  - d. College transcripts
  - e. Highly Qualified Teacher Report
  - f. Individual contracts
  - g. Employment verification correspondence
  - h. Payroll deductions authorized by the employee
  - i. Federal and Michigan tax forms
  - j. Any other documents signed by the bargaining unit employee
  - k. Any documents provided to the employee that indicate that they are being copied to the personnel file.

- 3. Any complaint concerning a bargaining unit employee shall be promptly called to his/her attention unless such complaint is exempted by law. If a complaint is found to be true and placed in the personnel file, the bargaining unit employee will be furnished with a dated copy of the complaint.
- 4. If a bargaining unit employee believes the material in the personnel file is inappropriate or in error, he/she may request correction or expungement in writing to the Superintendent and specify therein: name, date, material in question, and reason for the request. The Superintendent or designee shall respond to the request within sixty (60) days. The teacher shall have the right to attach a statement to the file copy of the material in question.
- 5. In accordance with the State of Michigan's Freedom of Information Act, MCL 15.231 et seq (hereafter referred to as FOIA), certain persons can receive copies or make inspections of most public records upon written request, per Board policy. When a FOIA request to review any information in a teacher's personnel file has been received, the district shall:
  - a. Notify the teacher via email, telephone call, voicemail, or text message within one (1) business day.
  - b. Include the name of the requesting party and an electronic or scanned copy of the FOIA request document submitted.
  - c. Only grant requested information after any student names, personal identifying information (such as Social Security numbers, home addresses, telephone numbers, names of family members, etc.), or any other information that would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of the individual's privacy be redacted.
  - d. Never grant requested information that violates the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), or any records relating to a civil action in which the requesting person and the District and/or the teacher are parties.

## SECTION 2.9: CLASSROOM PARAPROFESSIONALS

- 1. Classroom paraprofessionals shall be secured by the administration as conditions require.
- 2. Paraprofessionals shall be assigned by the principal and be directly under his/her supervision.

## **SECTION 2.10: JOB SHARING**

1. Teacher job sharing may be an option, if approved by the building principal and superintendent.

## SECTION 2.11: COMMITMENT TO IN-SERVICE EDUCATION AND CONFERENCES

- 1. The Board of Education shall encourage teachers to actively participate in relevant professional conferences with no loss of pay. The Board of Education further agrees to fully reimburse the tuition costs for college courses requested by the Board.
- 2. Reimbursement shall be made for expense for professional conferences in the teacher's subject field and to the Michigan Department of Education Curriculum meetings, at the following rates:
  - a. Actual railroad, plane or bus fare. Private car expenses, to conform to the approved IRS rate.
  - b. Meals not to exceed forty-two dollars (\$42.00) per day; A MAXIMUM OF \$10 for breakfast, \$12 for lunch and \$20 for dinner. Meal costs will not be reimbursed when they are included with conference registration.
  - c. Lodging expenses will be paid upon presentation of receipts.
  - d. Teachers shall suffer no loss of pay attending authorized meetings for the improvement of education.
  - e. Requests for permission to attend professional meetings may be approved by the principal and superintendent of schools, at least two (2) weeks prior to the meeting.
  - f. A report shall be submitted in writing, on the activities of the conferences, with recommendations, if any, for use in the Kalkaska Public Schools.
  - g. Teachers may be called upon to make an oral report to the Association and/or the Board of Education.
  - h. An itemized statement of expenditures must be presented within ten (10) days following the close of the meeting.

## **SECTION 2.12: DIRECTOR OF ATHLETICS**

- 1. The position of Athletic Director may be held by a member of the teaching staff on a half time basis. Every effort will be made to ensure that a Kalkaska Education Association member is considered for the Athletic Director position.
- 2. Compensation will be paid in the form of a stipend at the rate of 21% for extra-curricular duties performed outside of the contractual day, in addition to their regular teaching salary.
- 3. The Athletic Director shall be provided with an executive assistant and office space for performing the duties and managerial responsibilities of the position.
- 4. All teaching and instructional preparation duties shall be performed in the morning hours of the daily schedule, prior to the duty-free lunch period.
- 5. The teacher/Athletic Director shall maintain seniority, service credit, and steps/lanes on the salary schedule per Section 5.2 of this Agreement for the duration of their service.

## **ARTICLE III: TEACHING CONDITIONS**

### **SECTION 3.1: ACADEMIC FREEDOM**

- The parties seek to educate young people in the democratic tradition, to foster a recognition of
  individual freedom and social responsibility to inspire meaningful awareness of the respect for the
  Constitution and Bill of Rights, and to instill appreciation of the values of individual personalities. It is
  recognized that these democratic values can best be transmitted in an atmosphere which is free from
  censorship and artificial restraints upon free inquiry and learning, and in which academic freedom for
  teacher and student is encouraged.
- 2. Academic freedom shall be guaranteed to teachers, insofar as practicable, given due consideration to the composition of student groups, student maturity, and standards of the community as relating to the subject matter.

Freedom of individual expression shall be encouraged and fair procedures shall be developed to safeguard the legitimate interests of the school and to exhibit by appropriate examples, the basic objectives of a democratic society.

3. Teachers shall have all reasonable freedom in the implementation of the curriculum, including the right to select reasonable materials and to determine the class needs as they relate to the curriculum. However, this does not exclude the right and obligation of the Principal to question, consult and direct whenever necessary. Individual teachers shall secure approval prior to initiating a controversial topic, speaker, or materials. Any objection to use shall be forwarded to the teacher, in writing, by the Principal.

## **SECTION 3.2: TEACHER PROTECTION**

Any dispute concerning a student, parent, and teacher, involving a previous decision or action taken by the teacher shall be discussed privately between the teacher, the administrator, and an Association representative. Prior to the administrator taking action against a teacher, a signed complaint must have been filed with the administrator by the complainant and a copy given to the teacher, or the administrator shall notify the teacher that he/she is conducting an investigation and the nature of the investigation prior to initiating the investigation.

## SECTION 3.3: INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT

- 1. The Board agrees to keep district facilities and grounds equipped and maintained as funds permit. The Board recognizes that appropriate texts, library facilities, maps and globes, computers, software, multimedia equipment, laboratory equipment, physical education equipment, and curriculum materials are the tools of the teaching profession.
- 2. The Board shall provide for each teacher:
  - a. A desk, file cabinet, and a lockable storage space.
  - b. Adequate whiteboards and bulletin boards in every classroom.
  - c. Copies, exclusively for each teacher's use, of all texts used in each of the courses that the teacher is to teach, and companion online software (if available).
  - d. Adequate paper, pencils, pens, chalk, whiteboard markers, erasers, reference books, and other such materials required in daily teaching responsibility.
  - e. Equipment for preparation of instructional materials at no cost to the teacher.
  - f. Adequate technology in the classroom such as desktop computer, software programs and applications, telephone, projector, and Chromebook (or other laptop computer) for preparation and remote instructional needs.

## **SECTION 3.4: TEACHING FACILITIES**

- 1. No teacher shall be required to work, maintain or supervise students in areas deemed to be unsafe or unhealthy.
- 2. The Board shall make available, if possible, in each school, an adequate lunchroom, restrooms and lavatory facilities exclusively for adult staff use. There shall be at least one (1) room, appropriately furnished, reserved for use as a faculty workroom. Provision for such facilities shall be made in all future buildings.
- 3. Whenever vending machines are used in the teacher's lunchroom areas, the profits from all such machines shall be remitted to the building teachers for use in that building.
- 4. Telephone facilities shall be maintained for teacher's reasonable use. A teacher who needs privacy to speak with a parent regarding a confidential student matter may contact his/her building principal who shall provide a telephone in a private setting.
- 5. A designated staff parking area(s) with designated parking spaces and adequate lighting reserved for staff members shall be established and maintained, if possible, at each school. Provision for such parking shall be made at all future buildings.

## **SECTION 3.5: TEACHING HOURS**

- 1. School opening time and dismissal time shall be established by the Superintendent in consultation with the Association. No modification by the administration shall increase the clock hours beyond seven (7) hours and fifteen (15) minutes per day. The primary purpose of the 15 minutes is to meet state-mandated instructional hour requirements.
- 2. The Board agrees that the maximum total teacher time excluding extra-curricular activities for teachers shall not exceed seven (7) hours, fifteen (15) minutes per day.
- 3. All Teachers shall receive a duty-free uninterrupted lunch period of at least thirty-five (35) minutes.
- 4. The Board agrees that elementary teachers shall not be required to be with their students whenever they are receiving instruction by a certified teacher such as art, music, physical education, etc.
- 5. The Board agrees that elementary teachers will not be assigned recess duties.
- 6. For general education teachers in grades 6-12, to enhance the quality of instruction, no more than three courses will be assigned to them each semester. If an additional course is assigned to be taught, the teacher shall be paid a stipend of \$2,500.00 per year, or \$1250 per semester.
- 7. Each teacher's daily schedule shall include at least one period for preparation time.
  - a. Each teacher's preparation period shall be commensurate with the length of one instructional period in the secondary schools and at least fifty-five (55) consecutive minutes in the elementary schools. Teachers will not be assigned other responsibilities during their scheduled preparation time.
  - b. Deviations at the elementary level shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the elementary staff up to a maximum of five (5) in number.
  - c. The scheduled preparation period is subject to the total school program, and as a result, such things as field trips, testing programs, emergency class needs, may, from time to time, be substituted for preparation time.
  - d. It is expected that preparation periods will be used for such things as thorough preparation and parent-teacher communication.

- e. A teacher who must utilize their preparation time for other meetings, including but not limited to grade-level/department, REED, Child Study, final IEP, data analysis, etc., shall be compensated at the extra duty hourly rate.
  - i. No more than one such meeting per week will be allowed, unless extenuating circumstances arise.
  - ii. Individual teaching staff members will keep track of such meetings and apply for compensation prior to the end of each school year.
- 8. It is expressly understood by both parties that mentor/mentee meetings, pre/post observation meetings, and evaluation meetings may take place during a teacher's preparation period, and are not compensated, provided such meetings are by mutual consent and with advance notice.
- 9. Required versus voluntary meetings or service:
  - a. Teachers shall be required to be present and visible at four (4) hours of after school or weekend activities to support their Kalkaska Public Schools students (excluding secondary athletic events) without additional compensation.
    - i. Teachers are to be given choices on at least two (2) of the hours, and provided at least 30 days' notice, when possible, of when the other two (2) required hours are to be attended. Teachers will keep track of their hours and submit to their building administrator by the end of the school year.
    - ii. Additional hours cannot be required by administration, even for extra duty pay.

Required Hours/Events: Totaling two (2) hours:			
K-5 Teachers:	6-8 Teachers:	9-12 Teachers:	
<ul><li>Beginning of the year open house</li><li>Winter Concert</li></ul>	<ul><li>Beginning of the year open house</li><li>Academic Night</li></ul>	<ul><li>Beginning of the year open house</li><li>High School Graduation</li></ul>	

- b. All teachers may be required to attend district parent-teacher conferences in their building and remain on duty throughout the allotted FTE assignment.
  - i. Elementary Teachers (K-5):
    - 1. Will offer conferences in the fall for all students.
    - 2. Spring conferences will be offered on an invitation basis, or by parent request.
  - ii. Secondary Teachers (6-12):
    - 1. Will offer two evening conferences in the fall (3.5 hours each).
    - 2. Will not hold spring conferences, but will be responsible for seven (7) hours of Community Engagement Time to be worked throughout the school year. Events include, but are not limited to:
      - National Honor Society/Junior Honor Society ceremonies
      - Chaperoning after school dances
      - Working at Blazer Bash
      - Cookies with Santa
      - Parent orientation events
      - Music concerts
      - Art shows
      - Drama plays
      - Talent shows
      - Working athletic events
      - Awards ceremonies
      - Parent/community engagement events
  - iii. All conferences will end no later than 7:00 p.m.
- c. Teacher participation in extracurricular activities, for which no additional compensation is paid, with the exception of Section 3.5.9(a) above, shall be voluntary.

- 10. Staff will be required and are accountable to attend 13 hours of meetings outside of the regular school day, per school year, according to the following guidelines:
  - a. Nine: one (1) hour staff meetings. The building principal will establish these dates and provide them to staff by September 10th.
  - b. Four: one (1) hour PLC meetings (1 hour per marking period), as decided by building administration.
  - c. Meeting dates for PLC and Committee meetings shall be determined by each building's school improvement committee and provided to staff prior to September 30th of each school year.
  - d. Meeting dates for grade level, department, and school improvement team meetings will be determined by the members of each team, in consultation with the administration, by September 30th.
- 11. Any teacher employed on a half time, part time, or otherwise fractional basis shall receive:
  - a. Written notice of start time and end time to their workday.
  - b. Written notice of expectations for meeting attendance, for participation in professional development, and for fulfillment of Section 3.6.7 above, proportional to the fractional level of employment.
  - c. One preparation period included in their workday, paid proportional to the teacher's FTE.
  - d. Continuity of working hours, unless circumstances related to course scheduling prevent such continuity. Under this circumstance, the district shall:
    - i. Utilize the fractional employee for other teaching-related endeavors (e.g. substitute teaching, assisting with student accommodations, test proctoring, etc.) with compensation at the rate established in Section 5.3, during the interim time between courses taught.
- 12. Teachers who do not have students in front of them at different points throughout the year/day are expected to work to support the total school program. Grade-Level and Subject-Area Department Chairs should meet with constituents to determine how this will be handled (with approval from the building administrator). This could include but is not limited to: subbing for staff members when a sub is not available, co-teach and/or assist with interventions to help students at risk of failing, provide release time for a classroom teacher to plan or work on curriculum, assist with assemblies, field days, etc., or pull out and work with students individually to aid in their academic success.

## **SECTION 3.6: CLASS SIZE**

- 1. The parties recognize that class size is an important factor in the demands made upon the teaching staff.
- 2. In kindergarten through second grade class sizes should not exceed twenty-five (25) students per class or thirty (30) students per class in grades 3 through 12, except those classes, which have traditionally been considered larger classes. It will be the responsibility of the Building Administrator to ensure that class sizes are balanced in their buildings.
  - Should a mutually agreeable solution not be reached, the matter shall be subject to the grievance procedure through Level Three. It is expressly understood, however, that these matters are not subject to the arbitration process.
- 3. When the above class size exceeds the maximum, the principal shall within ten (10) school days, arrange a meeting with the teacher and the association to arrive at an agreeable solution to the problem. If no agreement has been reached within ten (10) school days of the meeting, the teacher will be compensated for the days of the overload, at the rate of one thousand (\$1000.00) per teacher for K-5. For grades, 6-12 two hundred (\$200.00) per year, per class, prorated for the days of the overload. To be paid with the last pay in June of each year.

## **SECTION 3.7: ACADEMIC REPORTS**

- 1. Official reports of academic progress within PowerSchool will be updated for parents to access in a timely manner throughout the school year.
  - a. Teachers at the secondary level (grades 6-12) will provide updated grades every other week (every two weeks), at the latest.
  - b. Teachers at the elementary level (grades K-5) will provide parents an academic progress report (as agreed upon with their supervising principal) once per month. One (1) such report will be provided in PowerSchool as a final end-of-year grade (pass/fail) to meet state reporting requirements.
- 2. Parents will be notified by the district, and by the teachers who have their children, the interval to be used for grade updates.
- 3. Opportunities for parent feedback will be encouraged.
- 4. Teachers have three (3) school days to complete grades and comments for report cards after the last day of marking periods 1, 2, and 3. The grades are due by 8:00 a.m. on the fourth day following the end of the marking period.
  - a. For marking period 4, teachers will have one additional day after the last day of school to complete their grades. The grades are due by 8:00 a.m. on the second day after the last day of school.
- 5. Academic report cards will be sent home on the Monday following the due date for teachers to complete grades, after the last day of each marking period, for a total of four (4) times per year. They will be mailed home after the fourth marking period.
  - a. Elementary teachers shall make report card comments for the second and fourth marking periods.
- 6. At the end of each semester teachers will have two (2) half-days to work on academic records, such as semester exam grades, report cards, academic progress reports, CA-60s, IRIPs, etc.

# **ARTICLE IV: LEAVES OF ABSENCE**

# SECTION 4.1: PROFESSIONAL, PERSONAL, UNPAID, AND ASSOCIATION LEAVE

#### 1. Professional Visiting Day

- a. Each teacher, upon recommendation of the principal, shall be granted time to visit other schools. The purpose of this visit shall be to observe some innovation in the field of the teacher's interest. Teachers shall suffer no loss of pay.
- b. These visiting days are to be approved by the principal of the school to be visited.
- c. A written report shall be made on the result of such a visit to the school principal, and then a meeting may be scheduled to report and discuss such visits with the Association, and/or the Board.
- 2. A leave of absence shall be granted to a teacher called for jury duty or court subpoena. The district agrees to pay an amount equal to the difference between the teacher's salary as computed on a daily basis and the daily duty fee paid by the court. The employee has the right to turn over his/her jury duty check minus the mileage amount to the District so that a regular paycheck may be issued.

#### 3. Leave Days

- a. All teachers regularly employed shall be granted four (4) days of leave per year with full daily pay each year thereafter. Teachers shall apply for leave days five (5) calendar days in advance, unless extenuating circumstances exist. The Superintendent may limit the number of regularly employed teachers absent at any one time.
- b. Any personal leave days, if not used, shall be "rolled over" into that teacher's accumulated sick leave and compensated at his or her sick day rate.
- c. During the months of May and June, and days immediately before and after a scheduled break, no more than four (4) teachers shall be allowed to take a leave day pursuant to this section on the same day. Teachers shall not take personal days on professional development days. The superintendent may approve additional requests, if extenuating circumstances arise.

#### 4. Bereavement

- a. Each teacher shall be granted up to five (5) days leave in case of death of the following members of the immediate family: Husband, wife, mother, father, stepmother/father, brother, sister, children, step children, grandchildren, father and mother-in-law, and dependents living in the immediate household. Up to three (3) days of leave in case of death of the following relatives: aunt; uncle; nephew; niece; brother-in-law; sister-in-law; son-in-law; daughter-in-law; grandparent (of employee or spouse).
- b. In the event that the teacher is the executor of a will, the teacher shall be granted up to two (2) additional bereavement days.
- c. One (1) day of leave chargeable against compensable leave may be granted by the teacher's supervisor or the Superintendent for attendance at funerals for persons other than those in the immediate family. One (1) additional day chargeable against compensable leave may be granted for funerals held more than two-hundred-fifty (250) miles from Kalkaska.
- d. Travel time is not to exceed three (3) days. Such time shall be allowed without loss of pay.
- e. Funeral leave shall be granted without loss of pay or sick leave days.
- f. In extenuating circumstances, the Superintendent may grant additional days of bereavement leave. If granted, these days will be charged against the teacher's choice of either personal days or sick leave days.

#### 5. Family:

- a. In the event of illness, or other emergency in the teacher's immediate family (husband, wife, mother, father, step mother/father, brother, sister, children, step children, grandchildren, father and mother-in-law, aunt and uncle, niece and nephew, brother and sister-in-law, sister and brother-in-law, daughter and son-in-law, son and daughter-in-law, grandparents of member or spouse, and dependent living in the immediate household), a leave not to exceed three (3) days shall be granted.
- b. If needed, an extension shall be granted upon application to the Superintendent of Schools. Said sick leave days shall be deducted from the teacher's personal sick leave accumulated time.

6. Temporary leave of absence may be granted for up to one (1) year. It is understood that this term "may" provides the Board with the latitude to consider all circumstances which may be pertinent at the time of the request for granting Unpaid Leaves of Absence on a case by case basis.

This year is to be without pay. If the leave is for education, travel or purpose which is beneficial to the school, the teacher shall receive one year's credit for advancement on the salary schedule, i.e. a teacher on the fourth (4th) step at the end of the year shall return after one year to the sixth (6th) step. Any other leave shall be granted without credit for advancement unless it is specified in writing by the granting authority.

- 7. Teachers must submit written notification of their intended return from leave by April 15, for leaves concluding at the end of the school year. Where the expiration of leave does not coincide with the end of a school year, the teacher must provide written notice of intended return from leave not less than sixty (60) days before the end of leave.
- 8. Military Leave. To comply with Federal Law.
- 9. The Association shall have sixteen (16) days paid leave for its members to conduct Association business, and the Board shall be reimbursed for the cost of the substitutes and retirement costs for the absent member(s) from the Association.

## **SECTION 4.2: SABBATICAL LEAVE**

- 1. Sabbatical leave shall be interpreted as leave from active duty, granted to any teacher after seven (7) consecutive years of employment in the Kalkaska Public School System (or schools becoming a part of the system, prior to the date of this contract) for the purpose of improving instruction in the Kalkaska Public Schools. Sabbatical leave may be granted for a period of up to one (1) year or one (1) semester, as may be recommended by the Superintendent of Schools. Final approval of those applicants selected by the Superintendent shall be made by the Board of Education at the January Board Meeting.
- 2. The application for sabbatical leave must be submitted, in writing, to the superintendent on or before December 15th.
- 3. Before approval is given, a qualified acceptable replacement must be available for the period for which the leave is to be granted.
- 4. Remuneration to a teacher granted such leave shall be at the rate of one-half (1/2) the yearly salary and payment shall be made on a regular payroll basis of twenty (20) or twenty-six pays. One percent (1%), to the nearest whole number, of the staff members may be on sabbatical leave at any one time. This does not guarantee any particular number of sabbatical leaves as the selection of individual teachers remains solely at the discretion of the Board. If no applicants qualify, no leaves shall be granted.
- 5. In determining its recommendations or requests for sabbatical leave, the Superintendent shall base decisions on the following basis:
  - a. The extent of the applicant's professional study, growth, contribution and successful services during preceding years.
  - b. The extent to which plans submitted for use of time while on leave are definite and educationally constructive.
  - c. Length of period of active service in the Kalkaska Public School System.
  - d. Reasonable and equitable distribution of applications among the different levels and department levels and departments in the system.
  - e. Order in which applications are received.

- 6. Upon return from sabbatical leave, the teacher must submit an appropriate report to the Superintendent. If an abuse of the leave is apparent, the teacher shall reimburse the school district for an average appropriate amount of monies paid while on sabbatical leave and the right of return to the system shall be considered forfeited.
- 7. Increment in the salary schedule and sick leave credit shall accrue and be granted when the sabbatical leave is completed.
- 8. A teacher, upon completion of a sabbatical leave, shall return to the Kalkaska Public School System for a period of at least one (1) school year.
- 9. A teacher not returning to the Kalkaska Public School System for reasons other than health, upon completion of sabbatical leave, shall reimburse the Kalkaska Board of Education for all monies received from them during this leave.
- 10. Each applicant shall receive a written response to the application.
- 11. If sabbatical leave is granted, all other provisions of reimbursement for educational travel credits shall be forfeited during the period of the sabbatical.

## **SECTION 4.3: ILLNESS AND DISABILITY**

- All teachers regularly employed for the school year who are absent from duty because of illness and/or
  physical disability including maternity, shall be allowed annual sick leave on a full daily pay at the rate
  of ten (10) days per year. These ten (10) days shall be credited to the teacher's account at the
  beginning of the school year.
- 2. Each teacher shall be entitled to accumulate the unused portion of each year's sick leave to a maximum of one hundred (100) days. If, at the end of the year, a teacher has accumulated sick leave up to one hundred ten (110) days, the teacher shall be paid for each day over one hundred (100) at eighty-two dollars and fifty cents (\$82.50) per day.
  - a. Each year, teachers will receive a one-time attendance incentive payment, on the second regular payroll of June according to the following:

a.	0.0 sick days used	\$400
b.	0.5 sick days used	\$350
c.	1.0 sick days used	\$300
d.	1.5 sick days used	\$250
e.	2.0 sick days used	\$200
f.	2.5 sick days used	\$150
g.	3.0 sick days used	\$100
h.	3.5 sick days used	\$50
i.	More than 3.5 sick days used	\$0

- 3. All teachers shall follow the reporting procedures outlined by the administration at the start of the school year.
- 4. Teachers who are absent the last workday before and/or the first workday after a holiday may be required to submit a doctor's statement for that day. A failure to submit the required doctor's statement for the absence(s) shall result in the member reimbursing the district for the cost of the substitute for the day or days absent.
- 5. In the case of an illness or an injury compensated for by Worker's Compensation the teacher's pay shall be the difference between his/her regular daily salary and the amount paid by the Worker's Compensation Insurance. Sick leave days shall be charged in the same proportion as amount paid by the Board of Education.
- 6. Teachers employed on a part-time basis, or for a part of the school year, shall have sick leave allowance in proportion to the time employed.

- 7. A statement of the teacher's sick leave account shall be presented to each teacher no later than the fourth Monday following Labor Day and/or the opening of the school year.
- 8. A teacher reporting for duty at the beginning of his/her workday who is forced to leave because of illness or accident any time after two (2) hours of duty shall be considered absent for sick leave purposes for one-half (1/2) day. If forced to leave because of illness or injury after two-thirds (2/3) of the working day has been completed, he/she is to be considered present the entire day and no deduction of sick leave or salary is to be made.
- 9. If a teacher is absent for a period of more than three (3) consecutive contract days, he/she may be required to present a doctor's certificate covering the full period of absence for which he/she is to be paid.
- 10. Extended Sick Leave: In a case where a teacher may require sick leave beyond his/her number of accumulated leave days, the teacher may qualify for Extended Sick Leave at sixty percent (60%) of his/her daily pay.
  - a. Upon the use of all accumulated sick leave and upon written application to the Superintendent of Schools, the teacher shall qualify for Extended Sick Leave days needed to qualify for Long Term Disability benefits as contained in the teacher's MESSA PAK.

Year of Service in the District	Days of Extended Sick Leave Available
First	53
Second	45
Third	37
Fourth	29
Fifth	21
Sixth	13
Seventh	6

- b. Disability days between the available number of Extended Sick Leave days and the days needed to qualify for Long Term Disability benefits shall be unpaid leave.
- c. The extended Sick Leave provision may only be utilized once per year for a recurrent illness.
- d. Applications to the Superintendent for Extended Sick Leave shall be made in writing and must be accompanied by the school district's form (Appendix D). The application shall include a physician's certification that the employee is unable to work for medical reason.
- e. Section 1.7.3 of this Agreement may be applied to this provision at the Board's discretion.

- 11. In case of partial disability which may incapacitate the teacher from discharging his/her full teaching duties, such teacher's assignments may be adapted to his/her ability and proportional salary adjustment made.
  - a. Certification of a medical doctor must be on file approving such assignment.

## SECTION 4.4: FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVES

- 1. Upon request, the employer shall grant unpaid leaves of up to 12 weeks according to the Family Medical Leave Act. Employees will be required to use available sick time during FMLA absence. Employees may retain up to ten (10) sick days, upon prior notification to central office.
- 2. If an employee fails to return from FMLA leave (except where the failure to return is due to continuation of the same conditions that necessitated the leave or other circumstances beyond the employee's control), the district has the right to recover from the employee the medical benefit plan cost contributions it made on behalf of the employee (and his/her eligible dependents) during the period of FMLA leave. However, no such recovery will be pursued for the portion of medical benefit plan costs attributable to any paid sick leave days used by the employee during the FMLA leave.

# **ARTICLE V: COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS**

#### **SECTION 5.1: INSURANCE AND BENEFITS**

- 1. For full-time teachers who select Option 1 or Option 2, the employer shall pay the maximum medical benefit costs allowed by law. The teacher shall pay, through payroll deduction, any portion of the medical benefit plan costs for the health insurance product in which he/she is enrolled that are in excess of the hard cap amounts.
- 2. The hard cap amounts shall be adjusted on January 1 annually, per the Publicly Funded Health Insurance Contribution Act, to the maximum permitted amount of the hard caps authorized by the State Treasurer under Section 3 of that legislation.
- 3. The monthly contribution by the Board will first be allocated to the medical benefit plan costs of the health insurance product. If the Board's monthly cost contribution exceeds the medical benefit plan costs for the health plan option selected by the teacher, the excess amount will be allocated to the teacher's HSA account (for those teachers selecting Option 2) or to the teacher's flex account (for those teachers electing Option 1).

#### **Option 1:** MESSA/BCBSM PPO shall contain the following benefits:

MESSA/BCBSM Choices (6M) \$100/\$200 deductible; 0% coinsurance, \$20 office visit; Saver RX; Max out-of-pocket: \$6,350/\$12,750; Urgent Care: \$25; Emergency Room: \$50; Chiropractic: 24 visits \$20.

LTD: 66-2/3%, 90 calendar days, modified fill; \$4,000 maximum

Alcoholism/Drug Addiction: 2 years

Mental/Nervous: Same as other illness

<u>Delta Dental</u>: 100%- Preventative / 100%- Restorative / 90%- Bridges & Dentures Annual Max: \$1,500 / 75%- Orthodontics Lifetime max: \$1,200.

Negotiated Life and AD&D: \$40,000.

Vision: VSP-3 Plus P 250CL

#### **Option 2:** MESSA/BCBSM PPO HSA Option 2 shall contain the following benefits:

<u>Health:</u> MESSA ABC Plan 1 (7V) BCBSM PPO HSA with a \$1,600/\$3,200 deductible (subject to annual adjustment per IRS requirements); \$0 coinsurance after deductible; ABC Rx after deductible/\$0 after max out-of- pocket reached; max out-of-pocket: \$2,250/\$4,500; Urgent Care: \$0 after deductible; Emergency Room: \$0 after deductible; Chiropractic: 12 visits. HEQ rider.

LTD: Same as Option 1

**Delta Dental**: Same as Option 1

Negotiated Life: Same as Option 1

Vision: Same as Option 1

#### **Option 3:** For those full-time teachers not electing either Option 1 or Option 2 above:

LTD: Same as Option 1

**Delta Dental**: Same as Option 1

Negotiated Life: Same as Option 1

Vision: Same as Option 1

- 4. Eligible teachers who do not enroll in a Health benefit package offered by the Board (i.e. Option 1 or Option 2 above) will be paid in lieu of health insurance enrollment the maximum hard cap amount set forth for a Single Subscriber by P.A. 152, and any increase in that amount made by the State each January. Teachers electing this option must provide verification to the Board that the teacher is enrolled in other coverage that is compliant with the Affordable Care Act.
- 5. The Association will be entitled to change insurance packages at any time during this contract through a letter of agreement if there is no increased cost to the Board.
- 6. The above coverages shall include all MESSA health insurance riders that do not increase the cost of the premium.

# SECTION 5.2: PROFESSIONAL SALARY (SCHEDULE-A)

## 1. Salary Schedules:

BA/BS		В	A/BS + 18	MA	or BA/BS +45	MA + 15 or BA/BS + 60		MA + 30	or BA/BS + 75
Year	2024-25	Year	2024-25	Year	2024-25	Year	2024-25	Year	2024-25
1	41,062	1	42,175	1	46,144	1	48,065	1	49,978
2	41,867	2	43,690	2	46,857	2	48,776	2	50,690
3	43,690	3	45,607	3	48,776	3	50,690	3	52,606
4	45,607	4	47,524	4	50,690	4	52,606	4	54,523
5	47,524	5	49,440	5	52,606	5	54,523	5	56,439
6	49,440	6	51,357	6	54,521	6	56,439	6	58,356
7	51,242	7	53,275	7	56,439	7	58,356	7	60,273
8	53,275	8	55,189	8	58,356	8	60,273	8	62,189
9	55,189	9	57,105	9	60,273	9	62,189	9	64,106
10	57,105	10	59,022	10	62,189	10	64,106	10	66,022
11	59,022	11	60,937	11	64,106	11	66,022	11	67,937
12	61,311	12	62,856	12	66,022	12	67,937	12	69,855
13-16	62,856	13-16	64,677	13-16	67,936	13-16	69,908	13-16	71,879
17-19	64,677	17-19	66,501	17-19	69,852	17-19	71,876	17-19	73,908
20-22	66,501	20-22	68,323	20-22	71,765	20-22	73,847	20-22	75,931
23+	68,323	23+	70,147	23+	73,679	23+	75,820	23+	77,957

	BA/BS		A/BS BA/BS + 18		MA or BA/BS +45		MA + 15 or BA/BS + 60		MA + 30 or BA/BS + 75	
Year	2025-26	Year	2025-26	Year	2025-26	Year	2025-26	Year	2025-26	
1	42,294	1	43,440	1	47,528	1	49,507	1	51,478	
2	43,123	2	45,001	2	48,263	2	50,239	2	52,210	
3	45,001	3	46,975	3	50,239	3	52,210	3	54,185	
4	46,975	4	48,950	4	52,210	4	54,185	4	56,159	
5	48,950	5	50,923	5	54,185	5	56,157	5	58,132	
6	50,923	6	52,779	6	56,157	6	58,132	6	60,107	
7	52,779	7	54,873	7	58,132	7	60,107	7	62,081	
8	54,873	8	56,844	8	60,107	8	62,081	8	64,055	
9	56,844	9	58,819	9	62,081	9	64,055	9	66,029	
10	58,819	10	60,793	10	64,055	10	66,029	10	68,003	
11	60,793	11	63,150	11	66,029	11	68,003	11	69,975	
12	63,150	12	64,741	12	68,003	12	69,975	12	71,950	
13-16	64,741	13-16	66,617	13-16	69,974	13-16	72,005	13-16	74,035	
17-19	66,617	17-19	68,496	17-19	71,947	17-19	74,033	17-19	76,125	
20-22	68,496	20-22	70,372	20-22	73,918	20-22	76,063	20-22	78,209	
23+	70,372	23+	72,251	23+	75,889	23+	78,095	23+	80,296	

BA/BS		BA/BS + 18		MA or BA/BS +45		MA + 15 or BA/BS + 60		MA + 30 or BA/BS + 75	
Year	2026-27	Year	2026-27	Year	2026-27	Year	2026-27	Year	2026-27
1	43,563	1	44,744	1	48,954	1	50,992	1	53,022
2	44,417	2	46,351	2	49,711	2	51,746	2	53,777
3	46,351	3	48,385	3	51,746	3	53,777	3	55,810
4	48,385	4	50,418	4	53,777	4	55,810	4	57,843
5	50,418	5	52,450	5	55,810	5	57,841	5	59,876
6	52,450	6	54,362	6	57,841	6	59,876	6	61,910
7	54,362	7	56,519	7	59,876	7	61,910	7	63,944
8	56,519	8	58,550	8	61,910	8	63,944	8	65,976
9	58,550	9	60,583	9	63,944	9	65,976	9	68,010
10	60,583	10	62,617	10	65,976	10	68,010	10	70,043
11	62,617	11	65,045	11	68,010	11	70,043	11	72,074
12	65,045	12	66,683	12	70,043	12	72,074	12	74,109
13-16	66,683	13-16	68,615	13-16	72,073	13-16	74,165	13-16	76,256
17-19	68,615	17-19	70,551	17-19	74,106	17-19	76,254	17-19	78,409
20-22	70,551	20-22	72,484	20-22	76,136	20-22	78,345	20-22	80,556
23+	72,484	23+	74,419	23+	78,166	23+	80,438	23+	82,705

2. A compensation/salary schedule committee will convene in the 2025-26 school year to problem solve inequities within the salary schedule.

## **SECTION 5.3: PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION**

1. The basic salaries of teachers covered by this Agreement are set forth in Article 5.2, which is incorporated in this Agreement. Such salary schedules shall remain in effect for the designated periods.

#### 2. Prior Experience:

- a. All teachers shall be given, not to exceed fifteen (15) steps in 2024-25, sixteen (16) steps in 2025-26, or seventeen (17) steps in 2026-27, credit for prior teaching experience. Prior teaching experience shall be at the rate of one (1) step for each year of experience.
- b. Any teacher with prior teaching experience with Kalkaska Public Schools shall be given full credit for each year of said experience.
- c. The Association and Board identified current bargaining unit employees who will receive two
   (2) additional steps per year until they have reached their actual/true/accurate level of experience.

- 3. Military Experience. Teachers may be granted, not to exceed two (2) steps on the salary schedule for military service, provided such military service was performed after he/she had received a valid teaching certificate or license. But, in no event, shall military experience and outside experience exceed seven (7) steps.
  - a. Military allowance shall be set at the rate of not to exceed two (2) years military service for one (1) year's allowance.
  - b. Allowance for prior service and prior military service is not retroactive.
- 4. A teacher's daily rate, per diem, shall be determined by dividing his/her contractual salary for the year, by the contract days in the school year.
- 5. A teacher's hourly rate shall be determined by dividing his/her daily rate by seven (7) hours.
- 6. Increments (salary steps) become effective the first contractual day of each year. Teachers entitled to such consideration shall be granted specified increments as per salary schedule and assigned to the next higher step.
- 7. Advancement from one schedule (lane/column) to another shall be effective as of the first contractual day of the school year following the completion of the required academic and professional courses.
- 8. Teachers hired during the year shall have their salary calculated according to the adopted salary schedule. This figure shall then be divided by the total contract days to establish a daily rate. This daily rate shall be multiplied by the contract days remaining in the school year. This figure shall be the contracted salary figure. A document showing the calculations shall be given to the teacher within 30 days of their hire date.
- 9. Teachers involved in extra duty assignments set forth in Article 5.5 (Schedule-B), which is incorporated in this Agreement, shall be compensated in accordance with the provision thereof.
  - a. A contract (Appendix C) shall be completed and signed at the start of the activity with payment to be made as designated in the contract.
  - b. Request for reimbursement for activities which do not require a contract, such as dance sponsors, and teacher's substitute pay shall be submitted, in writing, on or before the fifteenth (15th) of the month and shall be paid within the fifteen (15) days following the submission to the Central Office.

- 10. The contractual salary shall be divided into twenty-six (26) pays. Upon request of the teacher, two weeks prior to the time the first payroll check is to be received, a teacher may be paid biweekly, on a twenty (20) pay schedule. When twenty-six (26) pay periods would cause teachers to miss one pay period (during a twenty-seven pay period year), the contractual salary shall be divided into twenty-seven (27) or twenty (20) pay periods. The district shall have the option to divide pays into twenty-four pays, over the course of twelve months, for all staff.
- 11. Teachers shall be paid biweekly, on a twelve (12) month basis, with the following exceptions:
  - a. Those teachers who retire at the close of the school year shall receive all pay due them on or before June 30th.
  - b. In the event that a teacher retires during the school year, he/she shall be paid in full for services rendered prior to the initial month of retirement.
- 12. If a teacher expects to complete sufficient approved courses by August 30th of any year for advancement on the salary schedule, written notice shall be given to the Superintendent no later than March 31st, in order that the amount may be included in the school budget.
- 13. Teachers required to drive personal automobiles from one school to another in the course of their work (including extra-curricular work which requires them use their personal automobile to go to another district) shall receive a car allowance at the same rate established in Section 2.10.2(a).
  - a. The same allowance shall be given when the bargaining unit employee is required to use his/her personal car for field trips or other business of the District (including Section 5.5/Schedule-B assignments which require the use of their personal automobile to go to another district).
  - b. Teachers must have pre-approved permission to seek reimbursement. Forms will be available at the Central Office. Teachers are to submit mileage reports requesting reimbursements on a semester basis.
  - c. The Board shall provide liability insurance protection for teachers when their personal automobiles are used as provided in this section.
- 14. Rates for summer school positions shall be determined by the Board. In the event the Board determines to maintain a summer school program, the Board shall follow the language contained in Article 2.

- 15. The administration has the authority to assign teachers to substitute for absent teachers, on a rotating basis when possible, during their conference period, or other period when available, providing every effort has been made to secure a regular substitute teacher.
  - a. Such regular teacher shall receive the extra duty rate as established in Section 5.3.19 for each period he/she substitutes and loses his/her conference period.
- 16. In the event that a substitute teacher is unavailable and an absent teacher's students must be split up among other teachers within a grade level (likely in the elementary grades, but possibly at any level), the teachers who takes responsibility for the absent teacher's students shall be entitled to split \$138.00 (the same rate that would apply to six high school teachers covering for an absent teacher without a substitute) among the number of teachers who share the absent teacher's students, prorated by the number of hours they have the added responsibility.
- 17. Any teacher required to work beyond his/her contractual year shall be compensated at his/her daily rate.
- 18. Any teacher taking an extra class assignment in lieu of preparation time shall be compensated at sixteen percent (16%) of his/her regular salary.
- 19. Bargaining unit members shall be paid \$25.00 per hour for work assigned outside their normal work day, that is considered extra duty (when such work is not covered in another section of this contract). Work must be assigned by the superintendent or his/her designated representative and authorized prior to commencement. Forms will be available through the Central Office.
- 20. Upon presentation of a proof of payment, the Board will reimburse a teacher for the cost charged to the teacher by the Michigan Department of Education for the renewal of a provisional certificate or a professional education teaching certificate, on the further condition that the teacher's most recent year-end evaluation has an overall rating of effective or highly effective.
- 21. Pursuant to Section 1250 of the Revised School Code, those teachers receiving ratings of Effective or Highly Effective on their year-end evaluation, and in attendance for no less than 160 of 183 work days will receive a pro-rata share of a \$50,000 evaluation stipend pool established by the Board for the 2021-2022 school year, and a \$25,000 evaluation stipend pool established by the Board for the 2022-2023 and 2023-2024 years of this contract. FMLA, professional development, or any extenuating circumstances approved by the superintendent do not count against this incentive.
- 22. Any lump-sum type compensation will be paid to the teacher in a prorated manner based on FTE status and date-of-hire.
- 23. Upon request, school sports events passes shall be provided to teachers and their family.

#### **SECTION 5.4: RETIREMENT BENEFIT**

#### 1. Master Teacher Program

- a. Any teacher who has twenty (20) or more years vested in the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System (MPSERS) and has also been employed by Kalkaska Public Schools for at least twelve (12) years shall be eligible to make written application for enrollment in the MASTER TEACHER PROGRAM. The application must be submitted to the Superintendent's office on any date between March 1 and March 31, inclusive, of the year preceding the beginning of the three (3) year program.
- b. The Board will allow annual enrollment of up to fifty percent (50%) of eligible teachers into the MASTER TEACHER PROGRAM. The number of enrollees may be increased beyond fifty percent (50%) at the sole discretion of the Board. In subsequent years fifty percent (50%) of the remaining and newly eligible teachers may apply. Selection of teachers into the program shall be by greatest seniority as a bargaining unit employee. This will not affect current participants and allows for completion of current projects.
- c. Each teacher who voluntarily enters into this program shall submit a letter of application to the superintendent, or designee, indicating his or her desire to be included in the program, the plan for their project, and an explanation of how this project will benefit Kalkaska Public Schools as a whole, and for years to come. Upon acceptance of the letter by the superintendent, or designee, the teacher's application will be considered by a subcommittee formed for the purpose of determining acceptance of new teachers into the Master Teacher program. Teachers who have met the aforementioned conditions will be placed in the Master Teacher Program for the following three years as long as:
  - i. The teacher is available to work one-hundred-eighty (180) hours per year in various assignments as noted below, and
  - ii. The teacher has been rated Effective, Highly Effective, or equivalent, based on the applicable state evaluation rating system, over the past three years, and
  - iii. The teacher meets all state and federal requirements, as amended, necessary to be a certified teacher, and
  - iv. The teacher agrees to perform all assignments commensurate with the Master Teacher designation during the term of such designation. The Employer and teacher shall select from assignments including (by way of illustration and not limitation):

- 1. Performing duties which may be necessary to enable the district to achieve and/or maintain goals and/or implementation of the District Strategic Plan.
- 2. Serving as a teacher-leader of a Professional Learning Community (PLC) group.
- 3. Engaging in activities designed to promote and enhance the image of Kalkaska Public Schools and the educational opportunities for the students of the District. Some of these activities will include but are not limited to: curriculum development and grant writing. These activities shall be accomplished in conjunction with the District-School Improvement Committee.
- d. Each Master Teacher shall meet with the Superintendent or designee at least once every two months during each school year to review duties and report progress in carrying out assigned duties. They, along with their supervising administrator must present an update on their work/project to the Board once a year.
- e. The exact plan for each Master Teacher shall be mutually agreed upon in writing by the Master Teacher and the Administration. A copy of all mutually agreed upon plans for each Master Teacher shall be made available to the local Association President.
- f. Each teacher enrolled in the Master Teacher Program will receive, in addition to their salary as stated in the annual salary schedule, a payment of nine-thousand dollars (\$9,000) into an eligible 403(b) plan of their choice, payable with the last pay in June of that school year, for each successful year in the program.
- g. In the event that a Master Teacher participates in the program for less than the three (3) year maximum, the benefits as outlined in Section 5.4.1(f) shall be received in a prorated manner.

#### 2. Retirement Incentive

- a. Any teacher who has completed the Master Teacher Program is not eligible for this benefit.
- b. To qualify for this plan a teacher must have taught in Kalkaska Public Schools for a minimum of 10 consecutive years and be qualified for retirement under the policy of the Michigan Public Schools Employees' Retirement System (MPSERS). This plan is not available to those who have participated, or plan to participate, in the Master Teacher Program, unless they did not complete the full three years. In such cases, they are eligible at a prorated yearly amount.

- c. A qualifying teacher shall receive as retirement pay an amount equal to eighty-two dollars and fifty cents (\$82.50) for each day of accumulated sick leave, up to a limit of 100 days. The payment for accumulated sick leave will be received in the form of an employer contribution to an eligible 403(b) plan. This is a one-time payment and will occur in July of the year of retirement, and evidence from the MPSERS that the processing of his/her application for retirement has been initiated.
- d. Persons qualifying for retirement pay must file a letter of resignation to retire by November 15th if retiring at the end of the first semester or March 31st if retiring at the end of the second semester to be eligible for the retirement pay under this provision.
- e. In case of death of the employee, and in the event that the employee was eligible to retire and collect benefits per this section, the employee's surviving spouse, if any, shall be paid an amount equivalent to fifty percent (50%) of the unused sick leave payout.
- f. In years 23, 24, and 25, or any three consecutive years thereafter, teachers will receive an off-schedule payment in the amount of \$1,620 each year. Any teacher who receives any portion of this benefit is not eligible to apply for the Master Teacher Program.
- g. Persons who have retired prior to this agreement shall be subject to the retirement plan they received when they retired.

# SECTION 5.5: EXTRA CURRICULAR COMPENSATION (SCHEDULE-B)

- 1. All extra pay assignments are non-tenure assignments.
- 2. For the duration of this Agreement, pay for these activities shall be determined by multiplying the salary of the 2024-25 BA/BS, year one salary by the percentage listed next to each prospective activity. A 2% increase shall be given for each year of experience, at Kalkaska Public Schools, in a given activity up to ten (10) years.

Year	Base Salary For % Calculation
1	\$41,062
2	\$41,883
3	\$42,721
4	\$43,575
5	\$44,447
6	\$45,336
7	\$46,243
8	\$47,168
9	\$48,111
10+	\$49,073

a. Salary schedule for coaches of MHSAA-sanctioned sports:

Football	Soccer		
Varsity Head Coach	12%	Varsity Head Coach- Boys	12%
Varsity Assistant Coach (3)	8%	Junior Varsity Head Coach- Boys	8%
Junior Varsity Head Coach	10%	Varsity Head Coach- Girls	12%
Junior Varsity Assistant Coach (2)	8%	Junior Varsity Head Coach– Girls	8%
Middle School Coach (2)	5%	Varsity Assistant Coach, if no JV (2)	3%

Skiing	Golf		
Varsity Head Coach- Boys	5%	Varsity Head Coach-Boys	10%
Varsity Head Coach- Girls	5%	Varsity Head Coach- Girls	10%

Volleyball	Cross Country		
Varsity Head Coach	12%	Varsity Head Coach- Boys	12%
Varsity Assistant Coach	6%	Varsity Head Coach- Girls	12%
Junior Varsity Head Coach	8%	Varsity Boys/Girls Head Coach (if combined):  • Due to low numbers  • Due to lack of coach	12% 18%
Freshman Head Coach	8%	Middle School Head Coach- Girls	3.5%
8 <sup>th</sup> Grade Head Coach	3.5%	Middle School Head Coach- Boys	3.5%
7 <sup>th</sup> Grade Head Coach	3.5%	Middle School Boys/Girls Head Coach (if combined):  Due to low numbers  Due to lack of coach	3.5% 5.5%
7 <sup>th</sup> & 8 <sup>th</sup> Grade Mixed Team Head Coach	3.5%		

Baseball	Softball		
Varsity Head Coach	12%	Varsity Head Coach	12%
Varsity Assistant Coach	6%	Varsity Assistant Coach	6%
Junior Varsity Head Coach	8%	Junior Varsity Head Coach	8%
		Middle School Head Coach Two (2) Positions	3% each

Basketball- Girls		Basketball- Boys	
Varsity Head Coach	12%	Varsity Head Coach	12%
Varsity Assistant Coach	6%	Varsity Assistant Coach	6%
Junior Varsity Head Coach	8%	Junior Varsity Head Coach	8%
Freshman Head Coach	8%	Freshman Head Coach	8%
8 <sup>th</sup> Grade Head Coach	3.5%	8 <sup>™</sup> Grade Head Coach	3.5%
7 <sup>™</sup> Grade Head Coach	3.5%	7 <sup>™</sup> Grade Head Coach	3.5%
7ካ & 8ካ Grade Mixed Team Head Coach	3.5%	7 <sup>th</sup> & 8 <sup>th</sup> Grade Mixed Team Head Coach	3.5%
If 7 <sup>+</sup> /8 <sup>+</sup> Mixed Team head coaching duties are shared between 7 <sup>+</sup> & 8 <sup>+</sup> Grade Head Coaches:	3%, split between each coach	If 7 <sup>th</sup> /8 <sup>th</sup> Mixed Team head coaching duties are shared between 7 <sup>th</sup> & 8 <sup>th</sup> Grade Head Coaches:	3%, split between each coach

Track & Field		Wrestling	
Varsity Head Coach- Boys	12%	Varsity Head Coach	10%
Varsity Head Coach- Girls	12%	Varsity Assistant Coach	8%
Varsity Boys/Girls Head Coach (if combined):			
<ul> <li>Due to low numbers</li> </ul>	12%		
Due to lack of coach	18%		
Varsity Assistant Coach-Shared Boys/Girls (2)	6%		
Middle School Head Coach- Girls	3.5%		
Middle School Head Coach- Boys	3.5%		
Middle School Boys/Girls Head Coach (if combined):			
<ul> <li>Due to low numbers</li> </ul>	3.5%		
Due to lack of coach	5.5%		

- b. If a member is to be relieved of his/her coaching duties prior to the start of the next season, he or she must be notified within 60 days of the conclusion of the recently completed season, unless the sport is not offered the following season.
- 3. The Board recognizes that proper staffing, supervision, and administration of athletic events in support of the Athletic Director is essential for successfully hosting interscholastic competitions. The stipend for each position is as follows:

Event Managers	
Fall season (2)	\$1,750
Winter season (2)	\$1,750
Spring season	\$1,750
Middle School (Full Year)	\$1,750

Event Workers				
Official Home Bookkeeper:				
<ul> <li>HS Basketball</li> </ul>	\$450.00 (season)			
<ul> <li>MS Basketball</li> </ul>	\$200.00 (season)			
HS Baseball	\$450.00 (season)			
<ul> <li>HS Softball</li> </ul>	\$450.00 (season)			
Scoreboard Operator:				
<ul> <li>HS Volleyball (non-tourn.)</li> </ul>	\$500.00 (season)			
<ul> <li>HS Football</li> </ul>	\$500.00 (season)			
<ul> <li>MS Football</li> </ul>	\$300.00 (season)			
HS Soccer	\$500.00 (season)			
<ul> <li>HS Boys Basketball</li> </ul>	\$500.00 (season)			
<ul> <li>HS Girls Basketball</li> </ul>	\$500.00 (season)			
<ul> <li>MS Boys Basketball</li> </ul>	\$250.00 (season)			
<ul> <li>MS Girls Basketball</li> </ul>	\$250.00 (season)			
Public Address Announcer:				
<ul> <li>Football- MS, JV, Varsity</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>HS Boys Basketball- JV/V</li> </ul>	¢12 por hour			
<ul> <li>HS Girls Basketball- JV/V</li> </ul>	\$12 per hour			
<ul> <li>HS Softball</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>HS Baseball</li> </ul>				

- . The Event Worker pay, as listed in the table above shall be on a trial basis for the duration of this Agreement. Further consideration of extending this pay will be determined based on data indicating a positive impact on securing these positions for events.
- 4. Extra-Curricular Compensation (Outside of the School Day or Regular Duty):

Class Advisors:		Student Council	:
• Seniors	2%	High School (2)	3%
<ul> <li>Junior</li> </ul>	4%	Middle School (1)	3%
• Sophomore	2%	Upper Elementary (1)	2%
Freshman	2%		
National Honor Society and Junior Honor Society			3%
Clubs (PRE-APPROVED)			2%
Dances, Sponsors - after games: Paid at the extra duty rate as established in Section 5.3.19			
Vocational Certificate \$500			\$500
Mentor Teacher (See Section 2.6)			\$750
<ul> <li>This stipend shall be paid to members working in the traditional mentor program and when required to a different grade level/department when authorized by the district.</li> </ul>			
Half Time Mentor Teacher			\$375

Advanced Placement Instructors (Zero-hour, by administrator approval)	10%
Robotics- Head Coach	9%
Secondary (6-12) Band Director	10%
Drama/Production	3%
Activities of the Mind (Includes: Science Olympiad, Odyssey of the Mind, Future Problem Solvin Close Up, International Baccalaureate, Quiz Bowl, etc.)	ng, Math Counts,
High School for Each Activity	2%
Middle School for Each Activity	2%
<ul> <li>MS morning supervision (30 minutes) (2 positions)</li> <li>MS/HS lunch supervision (30 minutes) (3 positions per lunch)</li> </ul>	\$1500/yr
<ul> <li>(Anyone receiving 2.25% shall continue to receive this as long as he holds the position.)</li> <li>minimum of thirty minutes of duty, as assigned by the building principal.</li> </ul>	Based upon a
Homework Lab - HS, MS, Elementary: Paid at the extra duty rate as established	d in Section 5.3.19
District School-To-Work Teacher:	\$1,750 pei
DISTRICT SCHOOL-TO-VVOIK TEACHET.	semester
Grade-level/Department Chair (See Section 2.5)	\$750
Grade levely bepartment chair (see section 2.5)	Each

Newspaper:		Yearbook:	
High School	3%	High School	3%
Middle School	2%	Middle School	2%

# 5. Annual Committee Appointments and Assignments:

Appointed member of standing committee- Paid at the extra duty rate as established in Section 5.3.19

# **ARTICLE VI: OTHER**

## **SECTION 6.1: SPECIAL EDUCATION**

 Directional Statement: While the parties acknowledge the policy of Least Restrictive Environment (LRE) is legally mandated, they also recognize the extent to which any student eligible for special education services should participate in regular education programs and services must be appropriate to that student's unique needs determined by an Individual Educational Planning Committee (IEPC) on an individual basis.

Further, the parties recognize that whether any special education eligible student's participation in regular education programming can be achieved satisfactorily will depend upon several factors including, most notably, proper planning and coordination of the student's regular and special education programming, appropriate supportive assistance to regular education personnel (e.g., training regarding the teaching/training of the special education eligible student in the regular education classroom, access to consultative special education personnel and provisions for support personnel) and the reasonableness of the demands placed upon regular education classroom personnel (and the other students in those regular education classrooms).

- 2. IEPC Participation: At least one bargaining unit member who will be providing instructional or other services to a special education eligible student in a regular education classroom setting shall be invited, in writing, to participate in the Individual Educational Planning Committee (IEPC) which may initially place (or continue the placement of) the student in a regular education classroom. If the IEPC meeting is held during school hours, a substitute shall be provided for any teacher so involved.
- 3. If any bargaining unit member, in writing, advises the superintendent of a reasonable basis to believe that a special education eligible student's current Individual Educational Planning Committee (IEPC) report is not meeting the student's unique needs as required by law, the superintendent shall review the matter and advise the teacher of its determination.
- 4. IEPC Training/Information: Before any bargaining unit member shall be directed to participate in an Individual Educational Planning Committee (IEPC) meeting, the member shall be provided with specific information regarding:
  - a. The Multi-disciplinary Evaluation Team (MET) and Individual Educational Planning Committee (IEPC) processes and the role and responsibilities of the member and other participants in the IEPC.
  - b. The special education program and related service options which might address the individual needs of the special education eligible student.

- 5. Support for Regular Educational Personnel: The parties recognize the extent to which a special education eligible student can participate in regular education programs and services and whether such participation can be achieved satisfactorily will depend in large part upon implementation of the IEP and upon the training and other support provided the regular education personnel responsible for instructing the student.
- 6. Accountability/Liability: Further, the Board shall provide and maintain liability insurance on behalf of each bargaining unit member who is expected or required to implement the Least Restrictive Environment mandate in the course of his/her employment including extracurricular activities. Insurance overage shall include malpractice protection in an amount not less than currently set forth in the District's insurance policies or one million dollars, whichever is greater.

The Board agrees to indemnify bargaining unit members against any damages, fines, legal fees or other costs that may result as a consequence of implementing the Least Restrictive Environment mandate not covered by the insurance required above, so long as the bargaining unit member was acting within the course of their employment and within the scope of their authority.

No retaliation: No bargaining unit member will be retaliated against, due in any way to the bargaining unit member having: (1) filed a complaint under Part 8 of the Michigan Special Education Rules or with the Office of Civil Rights (OCR), U.S. Department of Education; or (2) asserted his/her rights or those of a special education eligible student with respect to the provision of the Least Restrictive Environment mandate as provided for in this Article or by law.

7. Medically Fragile Students: No bargaining unit member, except a school nurse, shall be required to provide school health services except in an emergency situation. When a general education classroom teacher is assigned a student from a special education program for severely impaired students (POHI, SXI, SMI, TMI), the teacher shall not be expected to perform routine, scheduled maintenance of a medical appliance or apparatus used by the student to sustain his/her bodily functions nor render routine, scheduled care or maintenance of exceptional bodily functions related to the student's impaired condition.

## SECTION 6.2: DISTRICT-SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT COMMITTEE

- 1. The District-School Improvement Committee (DSIC) of the Kalkaska Public Schools shall be established as the "vehicle" for evaluating and improving the district's program of instruction. More specifically, the District-School Improvement Committee shall be responsible for coordinating and facilitating the efforts of the instructional staff in the following areas:
  - a. Assessing program needs within the context of ever changing federal, state and local environments.
  - b. Maintaining system-wide continuity, consistency and communication.
  - c. Examining subject content, student performance behaviors, and program delivery systems.
  - d. Organizing the program of instruction into a uniform and consistent written format.
  - e. Evaluating the District's testing program and analyzing student test results as they relate to curriculum and student achievement.
  - f. Developing, organizing and approving proposals for program change and submitting them to the Administration and Board of Education.
  - g. Helping to develop activities for teacher in-service education.
  - h. Coordinating with the Master Teacher Program as described in sub-section iv.3 of Section 5.4.1(c).
- 2. Membership in the District-School Improvement Committee shall consist of a minimum of one teacher representative from each building, according to the following:

<ul><li>a. Elementary (grades K-5) - one representative each from:</li></ul>	<ul><li>b. Secondary (grades 6-12) - one representative each from:</li></ul>
• K-1	● Math
• 2-3	• Science
• 4-5	<ul><li>Social Studies</li></ul>
<ul><li>Specials</li></ul>	<ul><li>English Language Arts</li></ul>
<ul> <li>Special Education / Title-1</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Specials</li></ul>
	<ul> <li>Special Education / Title-1</li> </ul>

Membership is to be equally distributed between middle school and high school teachers (e.g. three from the middle school and three from the high school).

- 3. District School improvement committee members will be appointed by the administration, from among those making application.
- 4. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall be the District-School Improvement Committee Coordinator.
  - a. The Coordinator shall provide an agenda, lend support, guidance and direction when needed.
- 5. Building principals, teacher representatives and the Coordinator will be voting members of the District-School Improvement Committee.

## **SECTION 6.3: SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT COMMITTEE**

- 1. Each building shall have a school improvement committee.
  - a. The purpose of this committee is to:
    - i. Oversee the school improvement process for the respective building.
    - ii. Provide an opportunity for an individual to be heard.
    - iii. Discuss issues submitted by a representative or any staff member.
    - iv. All decisions and recommendations of the School Improvement Committees shall be reached by a consensus of that committee.
  - b. The committee structure shall be as follows:
    - i. Representatives will include the site administrator, members of the teaching staff (one per five teaching staff), and parent(s) as provided in P.A. 25.
    - ii. Parents and/or students may be requested to provide input in the committee.
    - iii. Selection of meeting frequency and times would be at the discretion of the administrator. The committees shall not meet less than once during each nine-week grading period and will be open to all staff members of that site.

- c. The scope of the School Improvement Committee may include:
  - i. Ways to improve conditions for instruction.
  - ii. Consistency of policy enforcement within sites and/or the district.
  - iii. Student discipline policies.
  - iv. Ways to improve cooperation of staff and administration.
  - v. Teacher handbook.
  - vi. Input into the budget process in buildings.
  - vii. Review and input into ESEA requirements, as amended.

#### **SECTION 6.4: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

#### 1. Definitions

- a. A grievance is a written complaint by a teacher and/or the Association alleging that a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of a specific provision of this Agreement has occurred.
- b. The term "teacher" may include a group of teachers who are similarly affected by the grievance filed.
- c. The term "days" when used in this Article, shall, except when otherwise indicated, mean teacher work days.

#### 2. Purpose

- a. The primary purpose of this grievance procedure is to secure, at the lowest level possible, a mutual resolution to grievance(s).
- b. Both parties agree that these procedures shall be kept informal and confidential as may be appropriate, at any level of such procedure.
- c. The failure of an aggrieved person or persons to proceed to the next level within the time limits set forth shall be deemed to be an acceptance of the decision previously rendered and shall bar any further appeal concerning the particular grievance.
- 3. The Association President or his/her designee shall represent the Association in grievance matters with the superintendent.
- 4. It is important that grievances be handled as rapidly as possible. The number of days indicated at each level shall be considered as maximum and every effort shall be made to expedite the process. However, when mutually agreed upon in writing, the time limits given below may be extended.
  - a. It shall be the general practice of all parties to process grievances during times when they do not interfere with assigned duties.
  - b. Forms for processing grievances shall be reproduced by the School District and shall be made available to the Association for distribution and use.

- c. Written grievances (Appendix B) as required herein shall contain the following:
  - i. It shall be signed by the Grievant(s) or the Association Grievance Committee Chairperson.
  - ii. It shall contain a full synopsis of the facts giving rise to the alleged violation.
  - iii. It shall cite the section or subsections of the Agreement alleged to have been violated.
  - iv. It shall contain the date of the alleged violation if known.
  - v. It shall specify the relief requested.

#### 5. Level One

If a teacher, group of teachers, or the Association believes there is a basis for a grievance, he/she shall first discuss the grievance with his/her building principal accompanied by his/her Association Representative. If no resolution is obtained within five (5) school days of the discussion, the grievant shall reduce the grievance to writing and submit it to the building principal, within 20 days of the occurrence of the event(s) upon which the grievance is based, or the date the events(s) became known to the grievant. If no resolution is obtained within five (5) school days of the grievance being submitted in writing, the alleged grievance shall proceed to LEVEL TWO or the grievance will be considered as waived.

#### 6. Level Two

- a. In the event that the teacher is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level One, or if no disposition is made within the designated time period for response, the teacher may, within five (5) days after receipt of the Level One response or the expiration of the time period for the Level One response, submit the grievance to the Association Grievance Committee for consideration of further appeal.
- b. Any grievances approved for appeal to the Superintendent by the Association Grievance Committee must be filed with the Superintendent within five (5) days from receipt by the Association Grievance Committee.

c. Within ten (10) days after receipt of the appeal, the Superintendent shall investigate the grievance, including giving the Association Grievance Committee or the Grievant(s) and/or Association representative(s), reasonable opportunity to be heard in a meeting. The decision of the Superintendent shall be issued in writing within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the appeal. A copy of his/her decision shall be delivered to the teacher(s) involved, the Association Grievance Committee and the principal.

#### 7. Level Three

- a. If the Association Grievance Committee is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Superintendent at Level Two, or if no disposition has been made within the period provided in Level Three, the Association Grievance Committee may submit the grievance to arbitration before an impartial arbitrator by filing a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association within thirty (30) days following receipt of the decision of the Superintendent or the expiration of the time period provided for the decision to be made if no disposition has been made within the time period. The arbitrator shall be selected through the Arbitrator Selection Procedures of the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its rules and regulations which shall likewise govern the conduct of the arbitration proceeding.
- b. Upon selection of an Arbitrator, the Arbitrator shall be empowered to conduct said hearings and shall render a decision within sixty (60) days from the closing of the hearing. Each party shall be entitled to file a post hearing brief within thirty (30) days from the closing of the hearing. The disposition of the arbitrator shall be in writing, including findings of fact and conclusions of contract interpretation. The disposition of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties, subject to judicial review of arbitrability and the authority of the arbitrator pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
- c. The arbitrator is authorized to render a decision and remedy, if appropriate, interpreting the terms of this Agreement, but shall have no authority or power to alter, add to, subtract from, disregard or ignore any of the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no authority or power to render a decision upon subject matter which has been expressly excluded from arbitration by the terms of this Agreement.
- d. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the parties.

#### 8. Miscellaneous

- a. The following circumstances, situations and matters shall not constitute grievance subject matter and are hereby expressly excluded from this procedure and the provisions for arbitration.
  - i. Any matter dealing with the rights of tenure teachers pursuant to the Michigan Teacher Tenure Act (MCL 38.71 ET SEQ.), which is within the jurisdiction of the State Tenure Commission for appeal and/or requiring a hearing before the Board of Education.
  - ii. The termination of services of or failure to renew the employment of any tenure or probationary teacher.
  - iii. The termination of services of or failure to renew the employment of or failure to employ any teacher in an extra-curricular position.
  - iv. Any matter for which there is a specified procedure and/or administrative agency established by State and/or Federal law to provide recourse unless both parties agree to arbitration.
- b. Any grievance occurring during the period between the termination date of this Agreement, unless extended in writing, and the effective date of any new successor Agreement, shall not be processed under the terms of this grievance procedure and shall not be subject to the arbitration provisions of this Agreement.
- c. Notwithstanding the expiration of this Agreement, any claim or grievance arising during its term shall be processed through the grievance procedure according to its terms until resolution.
- d. The time limits provided in this Article shall be strictly observed but may be extended by written agreement of the parties. In the event a grievance is filed after May 15th of any year and strict adherence to the time limits may result in hardship to any party, the Board shall use its best efforts to process such grievance prior to the end of the school term or as soon thereafter as possible.
- e. When mutually agreed to in writing by the parties, the Association may file an initial grievance at level 2 for grievances not within the scope of the principals.

## APPENDIX A

# **Duration of Agreement**

The provisions of this Agreement shall become effective on the date the Agreement has been ratified by both parties, and shall continue in full force and effect until August 31, 2027.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands this \_\_\_\_\_day of \_\_\_\_\_2021.

Kalkaska Public Schools Board of Education
By Reletmen
Rick Heitmeyer  Superintendent
Rachael Birgy Board of Education President
By Sarah Dudlu Sarah Dudek Board of Education Secretary
Mary Scobey Board of Education Treasurer

## **APPENDIX B**



# Kalkaska Public Schools

# Grievance Report Form/Kalkaska Education Association

Revised: 08-02-2024

Grievance Number:	1	Date Filed:
Building:	Assignment: _	
DISTRIBUTION OF FORM:		
1. Submit to Principal, Superv	isor, or Superintendent in duplica	te
2. Association		
3. Grievant		
CTEDI		
STEP I	and.	
A. Date cause of grievance occur	rea:	
B. Statement of Grievance:		
C. Relief Sought:		
	Signature (Grievant/Association	on) Date

D. Disposition of Principal/Supervisor:		
_		
	Signature of Principal/Supervisor	Date
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	
E. Disposition of Grievant and	d/or Association/Union:	

ST	EP II				
A.	. Date received by Superintendent or Designee:				
В.	Disposition of Superinter	ndent or Designee:			
		Signature of Superintendent	Date		
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	/or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	/or Union/Association:			
C.	Position of Grievant and,	/or Union/Association:  Signature (Grievant/Association)	Date		

(Attach additional pages as needed.)

STEP III	
A. Date submitted to Arbitration:	
B. Disposition and Award of Arbitrator (attached for file):	

Signature (Arbitrator)

Date

# **APPENDIX C**



# Kalkaska Public Schools

## **Extra-Curricular Contract**

Revised: 08-02-2024

This agreement entered into on: bet	tween the Board of Education of Kalkaska Public Schools
and	for the period of one year to perform services
consisting of	
at Kalkaska	
For these duties the Board agrees to pay*	for the season.
The teacher/coach agrees that payments for the contract and that these duties shall be fulfilled at	se duties shall not comprise a part of the basic teaching the conclusion of the said school year.
Years of Experience in Activity/%// *Salary Calculation	%
☐ Divide my extra pay equally by the remaining the first pay period after contracted duties	ng pay periods in the school year beginning with begin.
☐ Payment in total at the end of the season o cut-off dates.	or activity in accordance with established payroll
SIGNATURE of Building Principal/Athletic Director	PRINT Name of Building Principal/Athletic Director
SIGNATURE of Superintendent	Print Name of Superintendent
SIGNATURE of Teacher/Coach	Print Name of Teacher/Coach

# **APPENDIX D**



# Kalkaska Public Schools

# Application for Extended Sick Leave

Revised: 08-02-2024

Employee's Name:		Date of Birth:
Building:	Assignment:	
First work day lost due to THIS disability:		
Description of the nature of medical disab	ility:	
Employee's Signature		Date of Application
VERIFICATION BY PHYSICIAN		
I have examined the above nan	ned employee of	the Kalkaska Public Schools and I verify
that for medical reasons, they are t	unable to work.	
Physician's Signature		Date
DATE EMPLOYEE IS ELIGIBLE TO RETUR	RN TO WORK:	
**************************************	:******	***********

# **APPENDIX E**

	M	Τ	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2 T		- T		a -								
				1	2 9			H	بالم		Ţ								
August 2024	5	6	7	8								Ка	lkaska Pı	ıblic So	chool	s			
Aug 20	12	13 NTO	14 NTO	15 NTO	16							2024-2	OSE Tos	chor	Calo	ndar			
	19 26	20 Work Day 27	21 PD 28	29	23 30	1	3					2024-2025 Teacher Calendar							
	26	First Day 3 3 3 6/17/2												/2024	2024				
	M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2 T		M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	T			
	AND THE REAL PROPERTY.	3	4	5	6	4	4			•				3	0 1/2				
ber 1	9	10	11	12	13	5	5	ar S	3	4	5	6	7	5	b	5			
September 2024	16	17	18	19	20	5	5	February 2025	**************************************	11	12	13	14	4		4			
Se	23	24	25	26	Annan Dalanan	5	5	T.	A SANA A	18	19	20	21	5		5			
	30				101111111111111111111111111111111111111	1	1		24	25	26	27	28	5	h	5			
						20	0 20							19	0	19			
	M	T 1	<b>W</b> 2	<b>TH</b> 3	<b>F</b> 4	S 4	S 1/2 T 4		M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	Т			
_	7	8	9	10	11	5	5	March 2025	3	4	5	6	7	5		5			
October 2024	14	15	16	1.7	18	3	1 4		10	11	12	13	14	5		5			
ŏ~	21	22	23	24	25	5	5	2 "	17	18	19	20	2.1	4		4			
	28	29	30	31		4	4		****** 24 *******	*******25*****	26	27, 22, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24	28	4		4			
		5		5		21	1 22	Sommono	**************************************	**************************************	***************************************	THE RESERVE THE PROPERTY OF THE PARTY.	Andreas Contractor	14	0	14			
<b>-</b>	M	T	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2 T	April 2025	M ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	<b>T</b> 1	<b>W</b> 2	<b>TH</b> 3	<b>F</b> 4	S	S 1/2	Т			
	4	5	6	7	8					8	9	10	- 11	5		5			
November 2024	11	12	13	14	15	4	5		14	15	16	17	18	5		5			
Nov 2	18	19	20	21	22	5	5		21	22	23	24	25	5	b	5			
	25	26	27	28	29	5	5		28	29	30			3 3	1	4			
			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Winds of the same	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 16	2 <b>0 17</b>								1	3 22			
	M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2 T		М	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	Т			
	2	3	4	5	6	5	5					1	2	2		2			
December 2024	9	10	11	12	13	5	5	May 2025	5	6	7	8	9	5		5			
)ecei 20	16	17	18	19	20	5	5	20 M	12	13	14	15	16	5		5			
<b>-</b>	23	24	**************************************	26.	**************************************				19	20	21	22	23	4		4			
	30	31					15		26	27	28	29	30	4		4			
	M	Т	W	TH	F	<i>15</i>	0 15 S 1/2 T	300000000000000000000000000000000000000	M	Т	W	TH	F	<i>20</i> S	o S 1/2	20 T			
			**************************************	**************************************	A SA				2	3	4	5	6	5		5			
ar S	6	7	8	9	10	5	5	oгo	9	10	1.1	12	13	1	2	3			
January 2025	13	14	15	16	17	3	2 5	June 2025	16	17	18	19	20						
•	ASSESSED OF STREET	21	22	23	24	5	5		23	24	25	26	27						
	27	28	29	30	31	5	5												
		K-5 PT Co	onference	::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	=======================================	18	2 20	Total I	FULL Days	:;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;				6 174	2	8 183.0			
<u> </u>	-:-	Vacation	Days-No	Staff Full School	Day			Total I DPPD	<u> HALF Days</u> - Student i	s Days that	COUNT			<u>6</u> 180		0.0 183.0			
		End of M Half Dav	arking Pe	riod				Teach	er Work D <mark>T Confere</mark>	ay nces EVEN	UNG								

	5.4		144				C 4 /0	_											
	M	Т	W	TH	F 1	S	S 1/2	Т				1							
	4	5	6	7	8				47	다		A.							
August 2025	11	12	13	14	15								Ka	lkaska Pu	ıblic S	chool	S		
Au <sub>i</sub> 20		NTO	NTO	NTO									2025.2	2026 Tea	obor	Color	ndor		
	18	19 Work Day	20 PD	**************************************	22	1		3					2025-2	1020 Tea	cner	Cale	nuar		
	25	26 First Day	27	28	29.	3		3				1	Updated 2-12-2025						
	N.A	<b>.</b>	W	TH		4	o S 1/2	6 T		N/I	<b>T</b>	W	TH	S S 1/2					
	M	<b>T</b> 2	<b>VV</b> 3	4	<b>F</b> 5	S 4	3 1/2		4 4 Laux	<b>M</b> 2	<b>T</b> 3	<b>vv</b> 4	5 5	F	5 4	3 1/2	T 4		
er	8	9	10	11	12	5					**************************************	10	11	12	13	4		4	
September 2025	15	16	17	18	19		<u></u>			1616	17	18	19	20					
Sept 2	22	23	24	25	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	5		5	Feb 2	23	24	25	26	27	5		5		
	29	30			Anna an an anna an an an an an an an an a	5	ļ	5			- '				5		5		
	23	30				2 <b>21</b>	o	2 <b>21</b>						<u>.</u>	18	O	18		
	M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2		300000000	M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	T		
			1	2	3	3		3	March 2026	2	3	4	5	6	5		5		
er	6	7	8	9	10	5	ė	5		9	10	11	12	13	5		5		
October 2025	13	14	15	16	17	5		5		16	17	18	19	20	5		5		
Ŏ ``	20	21	22	23	24	3	1	4		23	24	25	26	27	4		4		
	27	28	29	30	31	5				30	31				7		7		
		5		5		21	1	5 <b>22</b>		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	**************		= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	<u>.</u>	19	o	19		
	M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	Т		M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	Т		
									2 2026			Pananako pananak	**************************************	3:::::3:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::					
ovember 2025	3	4	5	6	7	4		5		**************************************	7	8	9	10	4		4		
ovemb 2025	10	11	12	13	14	5		5		13	14	15	16	17	5		5		
Ň	17	18	19	20	21	5		5			20	21	22	23	24	4	1	5	
	24	25	45555	27	28	2		2		2. Z.	28	29	30		4		4		
						16	0	17		ending to the same of the				ļ	17	1	18		
	<b>M</b>	<b>T</b>	<b>W</b>	<b>TH</b> 4	<b>F</b> 5	S	S 1/2	Т		M	T	W	TH	<b>F</b>	S	S 1/2	Т		
L		9	10	11		5		5			5	6	7	8	1		1		
cembe 2025	8				12	5		5	May 2026	4					5		5		
December 2025	15	16	17	18	19	5		5	20 M	11	12	13	14	15	5		5		
Δ	A STATE OF THE PROPERTY OF THE	**************************************	A STATE OF THE STA	**************************************	**************************************					18	19	20	21	**************************************	4		4		
	######################################	30	A STATE OF THE STA							**************************************	26	27	28	29	4		4		
	B.4	-	<b>VA</b> /			15	0	15 		D.A.					19	0	19 —		
	M	Τ	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	f		<b>M</b> 1	<b>T</b> 2	<b>W</b> 3	<b>TH</b> 4	<b>F</b>	S 5	S 1/2	T 5		
	5	6	<del>7</del>	8	9					8	99	10	11	12					
January 2026	12	13	14	15	16	5		5	June 2026	15	16	17	18	19	1	2	3		
Jan 20	12	20	21	22	23	3	2	5	Ju 20	5 <b>2</b> 2	22	23	24	18 25	26				
	AND REAL PROPERTY OF THE PARTY					5		5				24	23	۷۵					
	26	27	28	29	30	5		5		29	30								
	18 2 20 K-5 PT Conferences Total FULL Days										6 <b>174</b>		8 183.0						
_:·		Half Day ! Vacation	Students/ Days-No	Staff Full School	Day				Total HALF Days  DPPD - Student Days that COUNT								0.0 183.0		
		PD DPPD- End of M	-No Schoo arking Pe	ol riod			8:00-	3:00	Half D PLC										
		Half Dav							6-12 P	T Confere	nces EVEN	IING				***************************************			

	M	Т	W	TH	E :		S 1/2	т											
	IVÍ		VV	IП	F 1	S	J 1/2	Т		علا									
ţ	3	4	5	6	7				7										
August 2026	10	11	12	13	14								Ka	lkaska Pu	ıblic S	chool	5		
Aı 2	17	<u>мто</u> 18	nто 19	NTO 20	21					2026-2027 Teach									
	24	Work Day	PD 26	27	28	1		3				_							
	First Day											Updated	2-12-2	2025					
		_	10/			5	0	7			_		6 6 4 6						
	<b>M</b> 31	Т 1	<b>W</b>	<b>TH</b> 3	F	S 4	S 1/2	T 4	February 2027	<b>M</b> 1	<b>T</b> 2	<b>W</b> 3	<b>TH</b> 4	F. 5	S 4	S 1/2	T 4		
er	THE RESERVE TO SERVE THE PROPERTY OF THE PERSON NAMED IN COLUMN TWO IS NOT THE PERSON NAMED IN COLUMN TWO IS NAMED	8	9	10	11	4		4			9	10	11	12	4		4		
September 2026	14	15	16	17	17	5		5		1.5	16	17	18	19	5		5		
Sept	21	22	23	24	2525	5			Fek 2	22	23	24	25	26	5	.)	5		
	28	29	30		Takana pod sakana			5						ē	3		3		
		<u>.</u>		3		3 <b>21</b>	O	3 <b>21</b>					<u>.</u> E	<u> </u>	18	O	18		
	M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	Т		M	T	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2	Т		
	<u></u>		<u></u>	1	2	2	ļ	2	March 2027	1	2	3	4	5	5		5		
ber 26	5	6	7	8	9	5		5		8	9	10	11	12	5		5		
October 2026	12	13	14	15	16	5		5		15	16	17	18	19	5		5		
	19	20	21	2.2:::	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	3	1	4		22	23	24	25	26	4		4		
	26	27	28	29	30	5		5		**************************************	**************************************	**************************************							
	M	Т	W	TH	F	20 S	1 S 1/2	<i>21</i> T		M	Т	W	TH	F	19 S	o S 1/2	<i>19</i> T		
	2	3	4	5	6	4	31/2	5	April 2027	141	•	VV	A	2::::	3	31/2			
ber	9	10	11	12	13	5		5		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	6	7	8	9	4		4		
November 2026	16	17	18	19	20	5		5		12	13	14	15	16	5		5		
No	23	24	2525	26	27 - 2 - 2 - 7 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -	2		2		19	20	21	22	2.3	4	1	5		
	30		The state of the s	THE RESERVE OF THE PARTY OF THE	THE REAL PROPERTY.	1		1		****** <u>2</u> -6*****	27	28	29	30	5		5		
						17	o	18		Carrie of Charles				<u> </u>	18	1	19		
	M	<b>T</b>	<b>W</b> 2	<b>TH</b> 3	<b>F</b> 4		S 1/2	Т		<b>M</b> 3	<b>T</b> 4	<b>W</b> 5	<b>TH</b> 6	<b>F</b> 7	S	S 1/2			
ic	7	8	9	10	11	4		4		10	- 11	12	13	14	5		5		
December 2026	14	15	16	17	18	5	ļ	5	May 2027	17	18	19	20	21	5		5		
Dece 2(	21	22	23	24	25	5		5	2 2	24	25	26	20 27	28	5		5		
	28	29	30	31	AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY OF					31	23	20	<i>-/</i>	Distant Onnant	4		4		
	AND SECULAR PROPERTY OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR	The state of the s	AND SECULAR PROPERTY OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR	Tanana da		14	0	14		Sanara Soparana					19	0	19		
	M	Т	W	TH	F		S 1/2			M	Т	W	TH	F	S	S 1/2			
					1						1	2	1	2	4		4		
ary	4	5	6	7	8	5		5	.7 .7	7			10	11	1	2	3		
January 2027	11	12	13	14	15	3	2	5	June 2027	14	15	16	17	18					
•	Managed and a	19	20	21	22	5		5		21	22	23	24	25					
	25	26	27	28	29	5		5		28	29	30		<u> </u>					
	K-5 PT Conferences									Total FULL Days							7 183.0		
		Half Day Vacation	Students/	Staff Full	Day				<u>Total F</u>	IALF Days	s Days that	COUNT			174 6 180		0.0 183.0		
		PD DPPD End of M	-No Scho	ol			8:00-	3:00	Half Do	ay ALL									
		Half Dav							Half D	ay Studen	t-PM PD 1	Teachers							